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COURT OFGENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE, 

CITY AND COUNTY OF 14EW YORK, PART V. 

MARCH TERM CONTINUED. 
.............x 

: Before: 

Plaintiff, HON. T. C.O/SU 

THE PEOPTN, 

-against-

EDWARD MONBRIDT, 

Defendant. 
*Of,   **** 40.0.0W04,i.O.44Wit 

Indicted for Ra,pe in the First and Second Degrees, Assatii 

the Second Degree, and Abduction. 

Indictment filed February 26th, 1909. 

Appearanc e s: 

For the People: Assistant District Attorney Appleton. 

For the Defendant; ,Tulius Hochfelder, Esq. 

A jury was duly empaneled and sworn. 

Stewart Liddell, 

Official Stenographer. 



H. HOCHFELDEB: May it please the Co 

state that one of my most important witnestai 

Bridges, who was subpoenaed by m 

here, and some professional engagement neseeeit.s, 

immediate withdrawal from the Court and at 

tion with Mr. .Appleton, it was agreed, i 

that if it was necessary, we would suspend dog 

APPLETON: The Doctor will be here a. 

Mr. Appleton opens tb,the jury in behalf 

People. 

(The Court then atimonished the jury in 

Section 415 of the Code Of Criminal Procedure, 

ned the further trial of this case until two 011 

Recess. 

After rece ss. 

New 'York, April 6th 

TRIAL RESUMED. 

MR. IMCFYELIER: I respectfully move 014 YO 

limit the consideration of the jury to the pr41,01; 

counts, one and two, rape in the first groe and.. 



degree if tle District Attorney 

has no direct proof or res gestae evideric 

taken together, would satisfy him that no co 

be had; then, I ask, and only in -that even 

Honor instructs the jury that the two count 

first and second degrees, be eliminated it 

tion of the jury. 

THE COU.HT: Motion denied. At the proper -13 

the trial renew your motion, but at this stage 

proceedings it is denied. 

MR. HOCITEIMR: M4, I ask your. Honor to recilleg 

District Attorney to choose upon which Eig2cfriar 

count he is going to try this case, 

to try it on all of them. 

THE COURT: That motion will b 

HOCIOTLIER: I ask your Honor, at this partiOU 

time, whether the District Attorney is going to try' 

prove the count of abduction in this case. 

THE COURT: No, the Court will make no direction 

the District Attorney. 

MR. HOCEFFL LER : May I ask your Honor, in view of tb,, 

seriousness of the charge, to exclude all w1tne33ee fot 

the defendant and complainknt from the Court room, in this, 

case? 

THF COURT: Ye s, that can be done. 



U 1 S E WILLI AM St called a a witigitst: 

behalf of the People, testifies as follows: 

BY TEE COURT: 

Q How old are you, little girl? Seven. 

Q Seven? Do you go to church? A Yes; sir, 

•Q Yes, and do you say prayers, nigbtid morning? 

Yes, sir. 

Q If any person would tell.a thing that was not.r al 

so, what would you call that? A A lie. - 

Q A lie, yes. Do you know whether it i 

to tell a lie? A Wrong.-

It is wrong to tell a lie. Now, do you know w 

Have you any reason to believe why it is wrong to tell a lie 

'What' do you think about that? Who said that you should not  

tell a lie? A God. 

Q, God said so, and do you believe if you told a lie tha, 

anything would happen to you on account of that? A Yes, sirt 

Q, Yes; do you believe that you will be punished? A Yes; 

sir. 

Q But whether there is punishment or not, do you believe 

that it is a wrong thing to tell a lie? A Yes, Sir. 

Q And for that reason, when 'auestions are asked of you 

you will try to tell what? A The truth. 

TiE COURT: You may. examine. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY 14B. APPTI1TON: 



ct Louise, bow old are yoU? A 

Do you kno* this maxi here, 

Yes, sir. • 

Q, What I s his name? A Edward Monbrun. 

What, Edward Monbrun? 

THE COURT: I think you had better select 

son to stand at the child' side and repeat tia 

of the child 0,o that the j ry may hear. 

APPLKON: The court officer is sa 

me, if he is satisfactory to the defendant. 

1B. HOCT-TELIER: He is satisfaotOry. 

BY MR. APPTRTON: 

Q, Where do you live? A 132 West 28th Street, 

Q Who do you live with? 

THE- COURT: Wait a moment. Do you think you 9434, 

loud enough so that that man over there, (indioatirl 

juror) will hear you? 

TIM WITNESS: Yes,, sir. 

THE COURT: Now, talk loud. 

BY IT. APPLETON: 

Q Who do you live with, your mama and papa? A Yea., 

Q, Did this defendant, Monbrun, live in the same hostOss:. 

that you lived in? A Yes sir. 

P Is that an al:artment house, a flat house? A 170, 

Q Do you recollect what floor you live on? t 

top floor. 
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Q And how many flights Of. ,st 

.your.hou0e? A Four.-

And do you know.vtd h floor the 

Nr. Monbrun? A The third. 

Q Now, on Or out the 8th day of Yibruarn, 

go into the room of the defendant?. A Yes) ,eir. 

Where had you been before you went into the OT:pnd 
• 

room that day? A I went to the store with my 14000 

Q And did you go into the defendant's room when you 

back from the store with .your mane A Yes sir. 

'Who was in the room when you, 'went into, this 'roc*. 

A A little girl and me, and another little girl. 

Q And who else? A Nobody else', 

Q. well, was Mr. Monbrun. there- at that 'time? 

x. 
sir. 

Q Mr. Monbrun, you ard two other little girls. 

Q Now, did the other little:girl s go Out 

or after you? A One little girl----

Q One little girl what? A One little girl wergtott 

just a few minutes after I came 

0, One little girl went out just a few kinUteS'At't 

went in? A \Tfie s s ir. 

Q Then did the otJler little girl go out, a V4.04 

that? A No, sir. 

0 Did E0-e stay there all tlse time' A Us' 
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er. 

• 

No*, was awthing done to you in that ro0 

sir. 

• What was done to yo He opened m.3,' 

laid me on the bed, and he . opened his own and then 

on the bed, and then he shobk d shook, and then after—

hi s tongue in my mouth, and then he went-- he was making  

like this, (breathing hard). And then he opened my pen 

-then my mama called m, and the little girl ran out., 

says, "All right, Mrs. Williams Louise will be right 

Q, Now, Louise, when the defendant unbUttoneet,' your pan 

did you say anything? A No, sir. 

Q Did. he put--- what part of your body did he teue 
• 

A This part, (indicating abdomen). 

Q., And how did he touch it  :A He only opened, my pan  

and then he laid me on the bed. 

• Q, Well, when he laid you on the bed, did he touch you 

in that part of your body that you pointed. to? A To, Ar. 

Q When he laid you on the bed, did you sty that he got 

on top of you? 

11R. HOW-TEL:TEE : I object, one moment. Let the 

ness testify. 

10. APPLETON: All right. I will try to be fair. 

MR. HOU:FELDER: In view of the age of the little gi 

TiM OOURT: Objection sustained, .for the present. 

(To the witness) Tell what he did. 
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747,777-4, 

MP APPLETON: 

Q When the defendant put you on the bed,. w 

defendant go, or.what did he do. A He laid me tin' 

are. he put me on top of him firs 

Q, put you on top of him? What do you mean by tilt*. 

A He put me on tOp of his body. 

Q He put you on top of his .1) dy? A Yes, 

Q At that time were your drawers, or your pants, :as,' you 

called them, buttoned, or unbut t °fled? A Unbuttoned.  

Q And what part of his body did, he put you on/ k Thi 

part, (indicating abdomen). 

Q And did he touch any part of your body? ,A 

Q And then afterwards you say he put yOt on the b 

A Yes,sir. 

Q. That did' hel do when lie put you on ti-s bed? A He Put 

his thing in mine. 

Q, He put his thing in your thing? What do you.mSan 

your "thing", what part of your body?, A 'This part, tin 

cating abdomen). 

ThI, COURT: You may continue to .find out what elxe 

means -by that. 

Q Then you say the defendant put his thing in your 

thing, what do you mean by his "thing"? A His own like 

mine. 

Q Like yours? A YeS sir. 



know. 
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Well, where was it that he got 

Q, That part of him did It eome fro*? 

•Q, Did_ it. hurt you when he put hibjg 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And. where did it hurt you? A Here, 

men ) • 

Q, And. at that time you say he had. his tongue 

mouth? A Yes sir. 

Q, Now, did. you get up from the bed? A Whezi 

called me. ',. • 

Q How many times did She oft34 you'? A Twi• 

Q And the second time did y,:get'up'ofr th 

A Yes, six. 

Q, Did. you go upstairs to your mama's flat? 

Now, what is the first thing you did after 

upstairs? A I ran to my papa and told him. 

You ran to your papa and. told him? A Yee, 

Q You told. your papa what? A I told him whAt 

o, What who did? A Mat Mr. Monburn did. 

And then who was the next person you skate to. 

you told your father what Monsieur 7Abnbrun did? T: tO 

mama, and mama care in. 

Q You told your mama what Monsieur Monbrun 

A Ye s , sir. 



Q And then what haIdpened? Did anyt 0 

flat then? A. The two little girls, 

Q The two little girls? A Ye a, 

Q, And after they came in, did. anybody e 

A No, sir. 

Q Did the defendant come into your flat 

A Yes, sir. 

VIE COURT: This 131911? 

• Q, This man, Mr. Monbrun, did be come up into you, 

after that? A Yes, 'sir. 

9, And did your father talk to him? AYes, 

Q row, did you go to Doctor Nagel, the ineXt 

A I did not go. He came f,ar me. 

Q, He came to your hou the next d 

sir. 

sir, 

And, did. Doctor Bridges also come to your house? 

Q And. did they both lock at your parts where you 'We.; 

sore? A Yes, sir. 

1M. APPLETON: I think that is all I care to ask ,t 

child ab out. 

CROSS-EXAMINATI 01T BY 11R'. HOCILF.NLIER: 

Q Louise, when you went into Mr. Monbrun's room, did yi* 

go alone? A Yes, sir. 
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Q, And one girl went out when you 0. 

Q And was there also mother girl in the room'"" 

came in? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And was this little girl playing on the flOor/--i 

Q, Where ia s she playing? A 

Q On the bed, and when you -came 'in,, Louise, did YOU ft 

the door open of Mr. Monbrun's room? A Yes sir. 

You went into that room a number of times, did 

A Yes, sir, 

the bed. 

Q How long have you been living in that hOUse .19011i 

A I cannot tell you. 

Q. Well, do you know how to Count.? A Yea 4 

Q, One, two, t ihree , and so on? A Yes sir, 

Q You do not go to sahool, do you? A Yes, 

Q All right, now how many times did yOu go tato. that 

room during the time that you lived. in that house/ A: clo o 

know. 

You do not know? Was it more than ten times, (indica-

ting on fingers); one, two, three, four., ten times? A I do 

not Imo vt. 

Q Do you think it was more than twenty times? A No, 

sir. 

Well, how many t iTrie , if it Was not ten nor twenty, 



many times was it? A I think it mus 

Eight times,no .more than eight titti. 

member? A Yes, sir. 

Q And whenever you went into that rilook.0 

room open, Louise? A Yes, sir. 

Q And when the little girl was playing 

room was open, too; was it?. A. No sir, 

0 It was not open? A No, sir. 

Q Well, did yoU close the door when you came i 

I did not close the door. 

Q, You opened the door when you earn° in, didn' 

A The 'door was open. 

Q Oh, the door was  open? Well you did not 

did you? A No, sir. 

Q And what was Mr. Monbrun doing when 

A He was playing with the little girl. 

Q, Was he playing on the floor? A No be was epli 

her in French. 

Q Speaking, to her in French., and where was aie at 

the time? A On the bed. 

c, And was she playing with any toys on the la 

sir. 

That was she playing with? A She was only tolktn 

And he wasn't mow fr cat the bed, was he? 

Where was he? A He was next to her. 

Lib& 



Q Wel 

A " Sitting. 

Q, Sitting on what,on the chair? 

Q, On the bed,, and he was talking -01 Fren 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And you understand French., don't 

Q Now, after you got in did you see 

door? A No, sir. 

Q, Well, then, you think it -Wail 

. APPLETON: I ob j ec t t 

what she thinks.. 

Q Did. you see your mother clOse the 'door "pt t 

Louise'? A No, because she was out in the hall. 

Q She did not close the dOor because she 

hall of the same floor? A Yes, sir. 

0 And she was in front isn't on the 3e.1110: 

A She was On the top floor. She was going upstairs: 

Q Now, you went into the room, and your maMe, Was 

on the top floor? A Yes, sir. 

Q And what was she doing? Was she calling, you? 

was Km making the supper. 

She was making the supper; but what was she dqin 

the hall that time? She was not making supper in the 

how was he next t 

was she? A No, sir. 

0 Well, she was standing in the hall? A Yes 



thought 1:waS going rightup,- and he 

for me. 

q Well, Louise, did she zee you 

A yes, sir. 

Q And did she say, Douise, come up appn 

And she hollered down from -the fourth-. 

third floor, didn't she? A Yes, sir, 

know. 

Q. And did you go up, soon? 

MR. APPLETON: Well T object to what "SoOn-

Well, how long Were you in there, LoAise? 

Q Well, do you know how' long it takes :40 opu 

minute? A No, sir. 

MR. APPLETON: Well, now, if yout Honor Dt 

grown people cannot tell time d wn'to a Matter of 

seconds. 

THE COURT: Well, she may tell if elle knOwe. 

MR. APPLETON: I withdraw the objection. 

BY MR. HOCEPELDER: 

Q Now, Louise, what time did your mama commence to 

make supper, Ala& do you know? A Ralf-past six. 

Q At half-past six? A Yes, sir, 

Pal.a was home, wasn't he? A Yes, sir, 

C Well, now, When you were on the bed., there was 4006t 

little girl on the :'ed, too, wasn't the? A Yes, sir. 



Q And What is that other little gi 

Q Blviria, and do you know her sec* 

Giordano. 

Q Well, tn, Alviria was 011 the 'bed 

on the bed? A Yes, sir. 

Q And did, you commence,to play with 

I got in there the first thing lae opened my pan 

he said "Hello", and then he opened my pant,e 

Q That is the first thing he said? A Yes, 

Q, Did_ he. commence to do it in the hall? 

Q, He did. it in the room? A Yeti sire' 

Q On the bed? A No, s 

Did he open, up the other girl' 

sir. 

Q And just as soon .as you got i 

_pants too? 

and then he opened your pants? A Yes, ,s 

Q And. the door was open? A Yes, s 

Q, And did you ever stand on the top floor, and 100 

Mr. Monbrun' s room? A Sometimes I did. 

Q Yes, you could look right down into his room when t 

door was open? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And Mama was looking right into that room? A Yeit 

sir. 

Q And you saw your mama because you looked up?' And s 

"Alt right, Mama, I will be up soon", didn't you? A leesis 
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Q 1tovir4 did you see your meima att for a .34n 

in the room? A No, sir.. 

Where did your mama go? Did she- say, "a 

on, now, Louise, be quick?" 

MR. APPIXTC17: Just a minute, You'ask 

Q Did She say, "Louise, come on now, I =watt 

you"? 

NE. APPLETON I: object to that, 

THE COURT: I will aljow it. 

Q, Did she say that? A No, sir. She Satd,. "Wirla You! 

up in a few minutes", and she went and made 

.oidled me when the sapper was ree4Y.' 

Q How do you know she went to make the supper? You we 

not looking at the time? A No Sir; sIe tol.„d me. She saYa 

the supper; And. 

"I an going to mr-le the supper, came right up, and if Monsie 

Monbrun says, "No", "Come right upstairs." 

Q Do you know whether your mama commenced to make tte 

supper before you went down? Did she havethe supper read' 

A No, sir. 

Did you see mama around the stove? A No, sir. 

. APPLhrON Fi x the time 

Q When you went down? A No, sir. 

What were you doing then? ...A, We just came up from 

the market. 

Q Now, nr. Monbrun, he put you on, the bed on this part of 
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the body, this way, (indicating), didn t‘ 

Q And you ,were lying on top, this 

Is that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q And how was the other girl lying, this 

(Indicating). A No, sir. 

How was she lying? A No, sir; was rUnning 'arOlnd. 

the bed. 

Q, Oh, she was running around the bed, -was she? 

sir. 

Q, Was the bed away f rom the wall? A No, 

this way, (indicating),next to, the wall. 

Q, 'Well, she did not go all the way around the bee, 

sir; she went only like that,. (indicating), and then 0 

back. 

• 

Q, She was 'running this way, (indicating) 4114 the;:k 

came b wk? A Yes, sir. 

Q And. what was .she running with? Did she have stmt. 

in her hands? A No, sir ; she was going' like that, , ( 

'eating). 

Q She was going like that, (indicating). A Yes, air 

Q Did you ever see her go like that 'bef ore' that one 

day, (indicating) lifting up her feet, (indicating). A 

sir ; she was kneeling ,,),,nd u,Ging ar cund the bed. 

Q Well, was s'ie crawling on the floor, this way, ( 

eating). A No, sir; the was acing this way, like that, (i 

dicating) on the flocr, this way, (indicating). 
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Q Well, was she jumping like tha 

A This way(indicating). 

9 And did. she have -something to pl 

following same thing? A 
she 

Q Dm Was *xxic going that way before? 

Q, Did you ever see her going that way 

MR. APPLETON : I object 

TIM C CURT : What is the question? 

( Q,ue st ion re ad by stenographer) 

MR. APPLET ON Iwjthdraw the oh j cc t ion 

to be charged with being unfair. 

BY IRS HOC HFELD.E.H : 

Q. Well, 'now, Louise, you were 

bed, ( indicating )? A Ye s, sir. 

Q An d were you kicking with your 

A No, sir. 

Well, what were you doing? Did you lie--

MR . APPLE!' ON : You a.s le d her what sly Was i 

Give her a chance to answer. 

BY TF.IF, COURT: 

Q What were you thing? A I was lying the way ye* 

were . 

BY :at' • YOCI-i7EL tER 

And were Jou 1G t,king, at something on the bed? A it 

sir; I was 1 okinp face 



You were looking at his face? A - Yes 

And where was his face? 

Q, His face was on the bed? 

Like this, 

A Yes, sire 

0 And was 'his face avtfa,y f cirt A. A little -

Q. A little bit away from! you?' A Yes,.r.  

Q Well, do you ow whether his clothes touched. nit 
clothes? Now, for inst ance you were this way on the tedt, 

Was he over here? 

MR.. APPLETON: She understood your 

"Slid his clothes touch your clothes?" 

gR. HOCHFELLIER: I think we might simplify matte 

a little bit. 

MR. APPLTPON: You should not ask her a question 

you do not want her to 'answer it. 

BY MR. HOCH:FELLER : 

Q Was he away from your Clothes? A No was -under 

me, and my clothes was touching his clothes. 

Q He was under you? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, you had your face against him, too; did you? 

A No, because he was under. I had my face near : his .face • 
saying 

Q Now, was he aligiNg anything to you, Louise, when he 

on the bed? A He says, "Isn't that nice?" 

T.TE COURT: Speak a little louder. What did he 

say? 



:TBE WITASS: that -nice", he asid me. 

Did he sOlow you anything when he asked 

nice?" :A 

Q, Did. he have airrthn in, his hand? A 

Q, How far was he away .from you when he said tho6S, 

A He was that far 4way from 0, (indicating about four tc 

six inches). 

That far? A Yes, sir 

Q Now, were you on top of, hiM that ti A :Yes: s 

You were on top of himiat time? A Yes, sire 

Q And had you--- You had yoilr face *hers? A X. but 

face just that much away from his (indicating) -4; 

Q, Well, now, did he press you\hard to the bed‘'Intsp,.you 

were on top of him? A No, sir. 

Be did not? Did he hurt yourliandis? NO, 5-

Q Did he hurt your feet? A NoVtir. 

Did he hurt your head? A No, 

in his hands? A No, sir. 

Q He was not? A No, .sir. 

Q Well, what was he doing? A He was 1,,ike this, (in-

dicating), and he was shaking like that, (inaicat:ing). 

0 Was his back this way on the bed, (indicating)? 



And your beck was this way, too  was. 

A A Yes, sir. 

And was he talking to the little girl that 

you were on your b this way, (Indicating-). 

Q, And Mr. Monb.run was on his back this way, 

ing).. A No, sii% 

Q. Was he talking to the girl? A 

Q That was the girl doing? A Se was runnin 

showed you before. 

Q. Well, she was running around all 

was she? A Yes, sir. 

And he was talking French to her? 

came into the i-oom---

Q, And. what did he say to her, do you know? 

tell you; I do not remember it. 

TILE COURT,: What did you say? 

THE WITNESS: I said I can't tell you; I don't 

remember. 

Q, well, Louise, did. you forget since that time? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, Now, were you talking to your mama st out this? A 

?pa first. 

Yes, and what did you tell to your papa? A I told' 

him what he did. 

Q Did you tell him that he was--- that he told you tha 



goi.,ng away, and you must go away from .the ri0 

he was going to close u sir; he didn t *.te 

at all. 

9, Louise after yott left the 'room did the other 

girl remain? A A few minutes after I went ou 

0 Well, how do you knoW that she went away 

after you went away? A Because 

home, •'what to say in Court. 

a few minu 

mama told me when I was 

Q. How is that, Louise? Jupt say it over again? 

THE COURT: Repeat it. Tell what your ms:ma, told. 

you? 

THE WITNESS: My mama told me what to t in COur 

Q She told you that? A 'Yes,, sir. 

• Q, How many times did she tell you that? A Every day 

when I had. to come to Court. 

Q. She told you what to ay? A Yes, sir. 

Q And what did she tell you to say? A She told me tO 

say everything what is right, and.not to Say a -lie, and rake 

asked me to say it, and I told her, and BIB says that is 

right.. 

Q. That is right. Now, how did you know that that little 

girl remained in that room when you went away? Did your mama. 

al so tell you to any that? A Yes, sir, 

Yes, but you don't know that she went away yourself? 

Do you' Your mother told you that? A Yes, sir. 
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Now what else did your mama, tell you to 

else. 

And when you went upstairs to your mane, after yo 

mama had called you, did you say to her, "Mama, is  SAPPer 

ready?" 

sir. 

did. 

A No, sir; I went right to my papa. 

Q And did you say to papa, "Ts supper ready?" 

what 
Well,„didyou say? A I told him what Monsieur MOxibrAli‘ 

Did you tell your papa that Monsieur Monbrun kissed you 

in the mouth? A Ye s air. 

Q, Yes, and lie did kiss you, didn't he A Yes, Sir. 

And did he kiss you on the floor? A Now siri. 

Were you standing on the floor? A Yes, sir 

Q, When he kissed you? A Yes, sir. 

Q And did he say to you, "Louise, I must close the dos% 

I am going to work," did he? A No, sir. 

We 11, did. you see him close the dox ? A No, sir. 

Q Did. you me him go away? A No, sir. 

0, After you told your papa what happened, did Papa , 

go downstairs? A No, sir. 

'0 Well, did. Mr. Ilonbrun -come upstairs', Euid drink some 

beer or wine? A I don't know. 

0 Well, ,a1±.± he drank something from a bottle, didn't 

he? A I don' t know. 

0 Well, did he drink something from a can? A I don't 



know. 

sir. 

Q Was Papa drinking, too? A 

Q Well, was Mama drinking? A No 

Q Did Papa play a game of carda in, that house 

Q Well, what did he do when he came upstairs? A 

was going to this lady's house, and my Papa----

Q This lady s house? A Yes sir. 

Q, Which lady' s house? A Mrs., Giordano. 

Q, And did she live  upstairs,too on 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, And did. you go out and Mr. Monbrun came 

this lady's house? A No, sir. 

Q, itiezcutaamt Who went first? A I did. 

MR. APPIkOON: Wait 'a minute-----

Q, You said you went to this lady's house, tirtweittatztoitlV 

Mrs. Jordan? A No, 

Q, What is her nkne? A Mrs. Giordano. 

Q, You went first up there did you? A No, sir. 

IVM. APPLETON: Now, the child. said she did. not, an 

then the question is so framed that she cannot understa 

It is evident from the child's last answer that she did' 

not understand. 

BY LEE. II:OCT-I-FELDER: 

0 'When you say you left Vele room, did you mean Mr.. Mon—

brunt s room? A Ye s ir . 



Q; What is the 

BY THE ( OUR : 

0,- Where did. you g 

this lac:y s house? A 

name, Yes. Giordano? A 

A I went to my papa. 

And when did Mr. Giordano come? A He wanted .t 

upstairs, and my papa called him in my house. 

••• 



we come into your papa's house,..vih60 

'papa called him? yes, „ 

Q, And how (.1 !,rour papa call hir,. do you know? 
, 

.was cotiling lips,tair01and 1-1;) says,. l*C orle here Mr. IfOntsratiti 

I want to speck to you." 

0 rthere was your papa:Mt  tha time? In the chair? A I 

the hal1. 

your papa war si ok at that time was he not? 

• 'And Was he in bed:- that NO, .13 Ir. • 

p, He. 7raf.:, sick hiiL e t:.ta,k.4.-1.g• arOund the how e")  

sir 

th0 called 11101 1,there Were you- 8 t; - 

A I. was in xn.y riana..'s bed. 

Q, yes, in :our Llama's bed? • A .Yea,, 

Q. Who t di :,ou do in that .bed? A I.yas slaeN, 

Q you were f,3 ep ing? A Yes 

0 And cid :-ou r,o rirclt away after you' left- Mr. 

mai-) r urt s house? A 110 rci 

—ell, i6 not nave clu,)per at that tiMet 

Oid Ynn? A 70, r,ir; I didn't have one to eat. I didn't 

fe ,?1 like it, 

didN't like it? A To, sir, . 

Ard (.1 id 1111T1C3 ask :you to have sn.zoper? A Yes, sir. 

-..,?,110,44. 



• 

./ 

ust right after you- got up there? 

we 1 

I told my papa. 

yell, when .Tou 'oame up 

anything about supper at all? 

did she ask you to have supper? 

OUr root' 

my 

Q ITO and you' fell asleep, did :.„rou, right away, after y0 

'Tien t up there? A 'No  øir1 

4 you did not? A ':No„ 

Did you go to the room right after you saw 'papa? 

No; sir . 

Well, hen did yoiv ro to the room? A I went it the 

kitchen and mama asked n.e to have supper and I Said -"Nan I 

didn't want' to eat supper. 

Q., Supper wasn't ready, via $ it? *A Yes, sire 

0. And was it on the table? . Yes, sir-. 

Q, And where Via,L'; pap a a t the tine vhen supper wes on the 

table? A uc had just came out to eat SUPperp 

Q He just Gem, out from the roOm that he vas in? A- Yes, 

sir. 

• 

Q And :.there did h ro tkien? A ,ne rent into the ki chen 

at his supper. 

thor —71at did he do? A . He asked me .to have • 

suppr "c I 11T0, I can't ?.a.t supper." 

n '!(.1 .f27.1, ash ycu O ea1 ;n.pper too? A Yea, sir. 

Did 1:!.nta 111111 7(.11 f),1 I-ed to have ouppr? 



sir 

Q where d id ou tell Mama that you d 

Th the kitchen, 

C), In the kitchen and rightaf ter you left papa, af.ter 

ti told him what -,,iappefired you  fnt. to your roan, 

did you? A No sir „ 

Tell, fn en d Id 0 u g o„.0 the room? 

papa and Taa -.a asked me to eat. 

Yes did you tall pa and Triarnal , the sane .8 tory that 

you are t211ing now? A Ye $ 

And were j.)'rap a and mama together, ,or did y:p.iu tell. papa. 

first? A I told my papa first, 

.A rid then you told rho? A tY Mama .• 

Q, And then t out ;6 the 

sir 

17e 1 1, .5hE.n did pc  pi  se e. 

was ea ting his supper and h Madame 

;Fiord ino 

0 A: :d v.1ere s 77r. "onl)rum w7Lon ras calling the madam? 

A TrZt Was c 0211i ng up the r, t nir 

0 :-.(0,1 hoar him call? A yes, sir, 

w.lat w;)he 1;d:ring? A 

he ad 14*. 1 o rth rum o al 1 I. n 

was saying, "Madam Tiordin0,-

I want to ref: you" bud adam Tiordino did not hear, so he COMO 
4 



came in our room fir st 

rf 1 1 ) that did he .ca y? 

ll ri ght What did you at to ray child?" 

Q, Well,t did he say" 

15.1R . APPLETON:Who i' 

0, lir. 0 lab anything", 

he wa F3 shaking. 

cl TT e v;1 as 13h eking? 

Q. 2ll, d id pap 5 ay 1rrti)ir1g that •he did" A 1o, S12 

And d id :roil  say mytting to pap a \ren M. motrurn, was 

present, wha t lir Tionbrum didyou to y -U A Yes, sir, r4,1 

p called rq:.: up and he said., "ltow, :tau tell the truth." 

I said "ye , :rou didU;."  

Yes, rou did r:na t? A Y i io hur td  

. VP17,7701T : Now.) le t her fini sh 

77, 17,OTTET Ye s • you is what? 



BY I. HOCTERTIDER : 

Q, Did you tell ir. .7 0 n-or urn rih t there wheli 

'Sent? yes,_ 1.3ir • 

0 And There did :you say he hurt you? 

my thing. 

0 Did mama tell you that :,,rou  should call .thi 

dica tine "thing"? A To, si:r; 

Q. Who told you that you should call that "thing"? 

• causcit is not nice to call it another name. 

ci It is not, and did mana •toll you to call it " thin.e.;": 

cause it vras not nice? A 310 r 

Q OntinUing: -- to call it any other name? 

0

 

An  the thing -tha t you v,Tere speaking about, what did 

dohe  th hi,: A TIC DUt t in my thing, 

. APPITRTON: Wait a minute I object to 

trt' ori of the clues t ion% It 4 too involved. We 

Pa 

trf,r t, out v;i th one clues. tion t76.en he asks anOtheat„ 

rIOTTr'70 She ho s answered., . The stanograph". • 

OT will read the question. 

( Ques tion read by Q. tenograpla.(ix 

T71. 

Why do you call that tiling that he ..put iinto your 

t" Ling  hy do ou call it thing? A 738 cause I don' t wan t to 

cal. i nohcr 

e • 1 2 thing for? 



W A . 

WWWW- •••••.v.' 

. APPLETON; 1 • Wait 321. nt.f. 

we are co ing too far with this, 

to s chool. 

TT COUP.T•: Yea,that ques Olt 

ed . 

BY 3P.. HOCIREMER: 

O., Now Mr. Monbrum used to come into -our manat 

very often, did he? A Yes, 4r•.. 

Q, Every day? A Ho  

And did he have supper Nil th you some times, 

inalna, and • pap a? A ro sir, 

ri iTrel 1, did '!1.z3 ,..•-ver eat at the 

4. 1,'/hok.',0 table? 

Yoi.z.' mama's table? A No sir, 

0,, He never ate in the houne? A 21.0•1 • • 

0, But he usel. to cone very often? A es,. 

Tell, did papa ever play cards ith ....110nbrum? 

with• yOmr 

A yes, sir 

v ' thfly use d to talk t o ge• ' ? A Yes,sir. 

And he used to talk to your mar a? A yes, 

—ell , Then 701A-it come to .faarta s house., in the 

orni, r; or •tiv zifternoon? A Alwayr, in the :A.gh t time 

tc.r Qv. bof ore? A After sw2per, about 

nine o c lock . 

boll': nine o'clock? A rEl 71.* • 
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32 

t tirge did rou ci2o to bed? A Oh, .,half piast. ni: 

.0, Half pest nine every niGh t? A Yes sir 

Now long did: papa use to stay in the house When  

come, if you. know? 

JIB.. t'PPILT].TOTT: How long d id -papa stay in it 

house? 

. I MC I (FELDER : No Ftr• Monbrupt.: HOW lone 

would he stay in your pap ca's house. .1 try to be 

fair; I do not mean to rti lead this witness. 

BY R. HOCHFELDER: 

0 How of ten did papa stay in the house more than half 

an hour? A I don' t 
• 

well, do you know what an hour is? • A Yes, 'Si 

0 AnxI o you know who t two hour are? A - Yes, sir.... 

0 And d i papa ever reiiin in that house more than tw,9 

hours? A No, sir. 

PL7'IT OTT : Do you me an pap a af-P,ain? 

, Lr.Ironbrurl, ViCn h. was corning to •,--•our house? A No 

sir 

woul, no t remain to hour? A • TO, sir., 

° You don! t (to :ou? 7,To  ir, 

0 You dofl t 

!') rf!•:v t i, Ou nean to iuy he. did 

not rertain t 0 hours titian :you knes..7* anything about it? 

T 7 v: 'o, sir. 



• 
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351YMR. ItOCTil_tqiIIER: 

sire 

:rou ever et.up. at 12 o'clock 

MR APPLITON.: ••• Nov, I objectt'17:1 

that got to do with this .ca e? 1t. is ob.l 

TTT (OI.J.T11 Yes, you may str.ilte 

tion 'anti anmver and ye yill not have any 0-60;tvai 

that character here , You' mi riee.11: 

A 

f„orri. questions of that nature . 

.7•11_0•ICIPIILDEB.: I do not Want to carr 

What has 

far. Your TrOnorbouggestiOn I shall abide by1. 

j us t vant to .a* Tou one ciuestiM. 

r, 1-hen :'-au were on your back on the bed  Louse 

v/:!en !Tr. viraf:3 on his back, aid he go this 

ing hard)? A Yes, sir, 

die, you turn over to zee? NO,, 

Q You di not turn over to see? A NO, sir 

Q how did you see that? A 'Because I knew I.' 

him, because 7P1vira was sitting dovin. 

Beori=e IrL5 to A T.,,ecause Vivira, was sitting dawn. 

Ari6 t:,i;tt is only reason that you know that it w 

way, (bmg, 

P PT  T ('T: I 01 t to that. rhe has 



TPT• C.Q1T1 1.7 Objection sur 

BY 7;fr 0 CI : 

Well, 15.13.9n he -ras doing that, he did 

d id he? A co, sir .,• 

Q, And di d he 7..1:aye your hand in hi s that ti 

Q, Did he have anything in hia hand that be 101-40.. 

our hat, Or coat or shoes? 

He 

Yes, ,sir. 

APPLF; 0.N.; u.st -a fainu e ; e have • beeli 

over that. 

Q, I jwt want to ref  o thp. p.ar ticular quest 

1. HOCHFJUIDIIili j...tist•-. wan p refer 

ti cular glue s t on . I• think the. t -1,13 .very 

ant, if your Honor ,p1pase  in this.ce ee 

irg to bF-! 7uided E0nor,e•disC)iiitio. 

want to in ay we y :bur den this honOrable'-. 

any questions that rtir.,ht tend to worry the 

:'cur Honor. It isa case that..  is of a gtAire  

ad I no cordinrl Ili oh to 'Tr!'" ng, out 

(repaneics, if possible. 

sire 

not? did not eventouch,7-ou, igfl.it f‘ 

, HOrl, 717,1):°:c1: • And if' I can do ,thSi 

7 17 7,1qdoIng inp,tice to 7.7 iie t. if yo, 



*: • 
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• 

TV:411°r thinks 

COTTPT: Try 

as possible 

R. HOMO MD:RR : 

7.0-wef.'"•-• 

have gone far. enoup 

and • .d it with 

If your •I nor thinia 

far enough, I do TiOt Waht burden this 

:tronor or the jury. 

'7.73 OUR?: I und ers tan .your a ttitudet aid 

not. direct You 

all 

f..; your. netho d of cros s-exami na tion 

3tOCIT71IDTRf; Thank: you. • 

By . HOC*UPETADER 

1:Tow, 1.7r . 'Ionbrum via,s on the bedand you, were on the, Ipe:d 

this way (indica ting)? Did the little girl) :-.31.vira, p16,y,  On 

the floor? "•7 
• sir 

. MT TOTT : Now, I object to.. that, as. a.' repo ti  

tion. 

(` Did s'iie ray any t-; int; to you,. ,Loul ?.sir • 

Did s2-4e ay a nyth irg to Lr. 710-nbruri..? • A -yp, sir 

. C. 4Y].,' (7o -011 ovr- did :'.1* Ou se e ir a. • 1,7M. e•ri. e was orr-

floor playing, 'filo ther she saw you, . her • you thought-4--

1\PPLTnil: 

ore! ••-• 

I °Ivies t to tha t 

0-t (JO 8LM tained . 

C, :To- •, '2) t cry .7:71 '.r.:7*ou- tient o'llt4 you, 

Ont. Of (f+ '70 'ire:  



And 

end t oth'i±l diftnt t 

,4, the other girl say DM 

you were presen . sir. 

Q, 1reU,. aat did i..he J? 

ma- and :rly .mtma sal 

to you, Louise"? 

310C.TUMDEP.. : 

cannot hear you; 

Tit- 1'1117Sr) : The little 

the mat te r Loul e 

.}11 OURT. Speak a little louder, little 

1, T11-01,58 : And my llama says, 

LTonbrtun do to .uicura Loui se ' and the little grl titi' 

mama 

ny TT.T7' OUP r.0 

Q, Vrha t di C.. Elhe toll her? 

T1:/-7  AP Pr'l T ON 

.T.h t a1171-vira ? A Elvir a. 

• 0, t Ada or. Ida, is th e other one 'S naxile Ida? 

ir 

Ff. r- EOCIDEEDER : 

The re ran that when She spoke to your irtotb.,e0? 

my house 

And ii 17,rir a come 7.9 to 7 -our house. alone 

: obj e t to t ha t quev 



Did he cone up to your house a 

• the first ques t ion The Other vt,o 

COURT: Ask h!_:Ir. whether. 

alone,. 

73Y R. HOCH.F.T=TY,D7'9,. 
, 

Q Did she 0 one a lone, did Ely ir eome 

sir; th her sister 

Q, .nother little girl? A Yes, 

BY P. ,TPLETON: 

Q. Ida? A Yes,, sir 

BY .T.E1 . tOCEiflR 

Q Vino. t did they cone up there 

cause they heard tie crying. 

Q, well, you did not cry when you saw Taps comin 

A Yes,sir. 

or, if you knot? 

0, And ci d you toll Marna rAnd papa why you- viers ot 

A yes, sir. 

Tow, 1/Ir. lonbruri need to give -,ro u lit tie thtne 

pr esen , idn't Ile 9 A Yes, sir. 

. Ir9ry o-r t en9 A 'len, sir. 

0 knd did he also vary often get hold of you irk •.t 

s tree t and ki you? t 0, sir 

V11, vhc,ro if he kissed 

A Tr,,.2 me in hi; roci . 

I he.. rc,o1!? " e , r 
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And also in your room vhen papa and mama We, 

Q And did he kiss you many times in rQur ro 

and papa were pre sen t? A 

.rust -once? A 

7,5rt1WWTE.1t: 

Q Did hs Qvr)r ? A 80metim 

.15T 1414. TRYJTIFELDBR: 

Q, You don't.know how many times, Douise 

sir. 

0 And did 'papa and .mma ever scold him for ki8sing10, 

A Yol six. 

Q In 7our room? A NO, air. 

o Did papa ever say to "'fr. iloribrum that he .must not Xiss 

90u? A 11-o, sir 

Q How long do ..,ou know 1Tr. 11:onbrum, Louise? dole* . 

know. 

Idol.1 know what five years ate? A.TO, sir, 

No, 

No, sir. 

Did he ,c.1 ,1 -ou two years? A ' I don't know. 

You don, t know how long he knew you/. A NO, sir. 

Tn r:101VT 

C If you know d o ou know how long?' • A. ITC, . sir 

py 1:(r ' 

0 Now, Louiile , did "Cu and our igrandmother have a 

talk ti.1:11 'rr. 7onbrum on the next d ay? A No.l. sir. 



Did you see him on the ne xt day? 

9, Did you see him that night again about h 

Louise? A ro, sir. 

0 You did not? A No,  

Q And did he come in t °your house-, 

fore you, went to bed? A iTo, sir. 

3ili. APPLETON: Oh, I obj ect to that. 

he came u Then her t a t'ner ata ca lle d him. 

MB. HI CI EPETT) ER : That ±3 all, if yow* TtonOr pleas 

. APPLTIT TT: Now, bring in Ida Giordano„ 

please. 

(Ida Giordano is brour-ht into the room.) 

• RE -DIRECT EXAMINATION, BY R. APPT2TQNt 

Q Now, is this the little girl:, Ida', who came ou 

add called -ro u.? A Mo, sir. 

Q In answer to :,our niothor, I mean. 

-as this little girl in the 'room when yokut lrst 

into the room? A Yes, sir. 

0, 7. ow, then ri this little frirl go out of the room? 

A he diH- not 1; 0 out. until my mother 'called me 

0 ic went out :en :our mother called you, that is wha4 

I meant  a n then d id she r:o out? A Yes sir, 

Is this tr. little girl that you -referred to as. play. 

in  on :,11.2 floor? A Yes,• 

Tha t it- ...-hat I thought 0,he wen out of the DOOM? 



Yes  sir. 

Q, This is Ida? A ''es sir. 

" IIPPL.-IIT ON : Tha t is all. 

;.T 08 E PH D. /I A GEL, .cal1N:1 as awitness 

half of the People, being duly sworn, t&stif.es as"f;f4,61.: 

DIRECT EXA1INATIOT BY liE. APPL7,T ON: 

Are vou a duly licensee and practicing physict 

sur ge on in the City of li-ew York? A Yea., Ar•- 

Q; Row long have on been amitted.tø prad tice 

of yew York? A "Par the laOt twenty years.. 

Ad during th last twenty year S hay yicnt beB# 

ticingyour profession, that is the ,profession of rid, 

and surp;ery in this -i t:-.? A I .have.. 

On the 9 th da.y of February, 1909  JC:TO you, • caileffd 

the pre;.i.ses 132 AF!est 28th street, in the County of  Noir 'rot 

A I have. 

I:Tho were you a eked to -3e;.,,? A -I Ar as called to See.. 

daugh ter of Isa-d or e Vrilliam , living in that .house 

13 in t the child, Loui se Williams, 'Olio was • just On 

the •--i tness El tarld ? A That is the one. 

0 Did 7011 i;Jfl that ri'1? A I have, 

0 , t part of her c: :rou examine? A I examin t3 

her sexual orr,Ems 

:,ou please te to th Court and .11ury what 



.obe.rved in the emmina tion-

n•ortir.re:. 

the sexual organ: 

child  that you. made on that occasion, 

evidence s Of recent penetration of :the vagina -ari 

ing, lacer a tion of the hy-men, the virgin membrane. 

Q, 7r as there anyhing, any inn:am:nation there at 

There were evidences Of inflamrtta tipn produced erAixtent 

by recent penetration. 

7irow, whet time of the day on the 9th of ts_ebru` 

was it that you made that examine ti on? 

daylight, in the afternoon. 

0 In the af ter noon? A yes, sir., 

Now, '4%.cre you called upon to examine another chi 

in tha t house on that occasion? A .1 was 

,And wha t other child were you called upon to exam 

R. IMMO:SIDER : I object to. tha t may, it 15. 

:rour -Honor. I move to strke it out as not binding 

on this defendant. 

TIM COURT: Yes. 

:PPLE TOE' : lihen I will not press that.]. 

ther under your Honor's ruling. 

nROS -EX Ai, Ill:A:2107T BY 171-1 . tOCITELD.Fa : 

0 Dodcot,r after your cacardina tion of ta.:: ;exual. organo 

of this little rri -ou core to any .conclusion that the 

made that 



by any means whatsoever? 

And when you term the object a blunt t1 

be a piece of iron or rood or. any metallic subÔ. 

a metallic subs tance c ou 0 no poihly produce a,rfia 

of that char ac ter, 

Q, You are ur e about t:la t ? A -ure about 

Q, And what raF,,, the ellar a c ter of that elaflflat 

cannot tell the exact character, except that it vrati n 

74e t all I c subs t once th t c au se d i t 

.C.) Will you tell us, as near as possible? 

APP=0}T: .Will you  please not interruPt laim? 

TIVCOT31191 : You are proceeding to poke t 

!aont you iloy continue. 

TICE T NES S : The oir&ic ter of theinstrup 

that penetrated, it :u at have been blunt because 'tre 

was no actual cutting''? the tissUe e, and it inuat 

been sone Irj e ldiiig subs tance bec au e the contuSiOrti 

not sufficient to produce a violent tearing. 

well now, Doctor, you found no blood? 

n.o blood, when I examined t;:rie child it was 24 hourfs-a' 

wards, 

Yes, you found no evidence that blood was th6r0 



A 

answer ed it. 

g, Vie 11, so far as you ere concerned,. you. font 

No blood theñ. 

R. object tha 

. TIOCITIFE "DER : ur Honor allow t11a,.1 

to stand? 

R. I LI [FRUIT, : It ir, a repetition, 

THE COURT : I will allow it to stand 

I t, does not nake any difference 

BY M.. HOCHFELDEfl : 

Q, Now, would an injury of that kind, as yourdesoribei. 

be possibl-e to have been caused by a fall againstva.Sh. 

object? A It could not. 

Q rell, how r ould it caused, if you know? A Went, 

the nature of an injury,as you. have d e so ri bed  striking 

a r; ains t the edge of a chair or table uld not' produce 
any 

penetration, alfmrararmairmama kynpborris of penet'reti,on. 

' :R. APPLETOIT: Doctor, you please answer the 

quo : ti. ons PU t. to 7'ou: you please a nsWer ? 

T117 : Read the clue s ti on 

0.ue s t i on read by stenographer.) 

The r, ti on -,„ra$ how t •could be 

caused, if you know. Answer the Question. 

ErP, : How could it be. caused? 

;T C1,11-ITIDER : In how riany ways night it be ca aid 
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-a 

-0".7r1r.• 

Crfl COURT: Answer the que . 

:TER .41)PLETON: How (..to uld it be 'cause 
• 

TIT, WI CS:TIZE  The inj ury c ould on3ybe oattS•• 0, 

said bef ore , by sorae blunt nsLrurieVit penetrating . the. o 

BY ivH. HOCTIFELDER: 

Q Will you kindly describe to. th:l.s.'Court. .an -41113. 

what kind of blunt in  trume t Islght cause this injury? 

A The male or g an 

AP-d. that .cu call a blunt ins trume n t? Yes, 

NOw, will :you give Your ida of c, o hr blunt 1, 

s rumen t? A Well, I could net describe, exactly what: 

instruine  t night have cause d it . 

C) And Chen, Doctor, rOu me an to say,as. far 43. yin& tpTia 

iar ti s obj e c ts i, concerned, the Male organ is tlixo orro!,, 

ly blunt ins trum rou know of? A NO,, I :would not 

stote th t 

-ell tell 11S rha t you me an . A Oh, 'I could not • 

ste every blunt in :3 t r tin e n t 

0 I don't 7 -ant you' tf- s tate such a blunt ins trUMen t 

hut t 11 ‘1..r1 t 'rOU Trie, an? 

: Oh, I cannot s ee the object of-

th1-72 t The j nry kn ow- — 

9.1IT (1'01)1:1' : I l l t the Dor)i;o,„-- z: tate, if he 

kr. ous ( To talc: Is,ri s ) ct st rumen t 

P1± a v6, v.aur.7ecl that? 



:HP WITNESS: Well the nurber 

men't that xaight1 aVe caused tha 

tered the child, 

ment. 

BY R. 3MCITELDER: 

Q, Well, would a finger be a bitin 

finger? 

c.ves. A A finger of a grown 'up Person? 

Q, Yes. A yes,. but not of a child. 

aSfow, a. finger of a young persOn would not 

instrument? A I Jould no t c all it that It 

and elas tic 

You would 9ay that the blunt instrIxraent would neceaal.. 

sarily have to be yielding, you said that before? * A—. • Ye0..i 

sir. 

that 

Vrou.ld cal]. ..a candle a 

Q Tell, "oi.i.:10 the finger Of r young person, say tvien 

v.a.ra of ,..T7e, b- classified aa a blumt instrument? 

would. 

fifteen year old parson? A 'fell we c 119 t 

any deriarhatiOn of ap.;e. 

Q, 70w, ou cannot-- in that list de blun t ins trUrien 

you have '..,numerated candle. ins t mice , that might 

cc1e tho injury, a similar injury? A Yes, sir; ablun 

instrument of sufficient 

2 And e, candle 1c a Ilunt ilitrument of 3uftiCiOnt:4**i 



candle of orc1iriry1ze night cause that 

might; ye s, ir. 

iFre 11 , you cannot enure e  of course riorel 

a dozen blunt instruments? A Well, not offhand 4;. 

TER . APPIBTON; Wit a itinute. T is ria 

s trwaen ts, it is a .blunt instririentf that woldhi 

• caused such an injury • he saVI,, 

Q, You cannot, can you? - A Well, I dould riot enumeri-

at e any more offhand than I have 

Q, Now, Doctor, sliding upon' a b anis 

timec do •and reaching the. ehd with oros, 

raation be caused by such a travel o -r1 the baniEiter? 

that ca se :fou would have abrasions md the 'skin would be „off4, 

g, That is, if th body and sex.n,a1 organs were not covee4 

with c 1 o s ? A 7. ell, c ant ac t pith a banister would not 

cause inj1)r,7: I have obrervod 

Q thr! ii.r7*it be caused by sliding down a 

banis tr? A cs, sir, ccr ta in kinds of inj uries might' be 

caue by t.ln buf.. t t'f,,,9 ones Ilhioh I. ria,w, 

Doetcr, I -.-ish to int orm ou, that )7e have in nind • to 

1.. ring 31)01.11-._ z3 t; te of fa.c tha t that particular injury 

t ' in of ways? A yes, sir; 

the Injuries. 

C4, ?0' 

per tielliarl- Id • 

f7 10 4;11 13 7.-?E' rc On 

t 1- ,71.u.t, ed.? 

tle cirl, that 



rofVF!” 

. APPLBTON: 

anwered and aid tha t that par tiolaAt 

be caused in such a manner. 

THE COURT: Obj ecti on sus tains 

R:-1"1- TrOCITITTLDIIR.: 

Q It could not be caused -in any manner by 

a banister? A No,. it could- n 

Q, It could not? A No, because there is 

sion of the external parts. There ias no 

ext em11 al organ I. 

Then, when the ^lo thes are on the body." 

when the clo-thes are on the body, if there is arir irijur 

the  ± t ;thois on the sk in. 

0, Did 0 u e mriine the hynen of the little 

sir; wha t was 1 of t of I t. 

Q 1.7,ha t VTe3 left of it? -

n Well, v2,..ta t was left of 

pieces. 

Yes, sir. 

A Just a few littl 

Wastt broken? A Surely it wasbroken, 

Q Mic;h t tiat 1A3 eau !;e c) bthe inser tion, of th little 

rirlI 5 finger? A NO, not vi th her fing rs 

hive hid to lnat he -r. ..-thole hand in. 

I asked --Ou 

,he would; 

that micht be caused by the in- • 

ser t ion o 14 tlo tirl finmr. A No. 



+Zat:g. 

r 

• APPLBTOri: He has iielswere 

HOCIEFEIMER: He did not answ 

2\1' o e if Uic hyri around 

Not blood, but contusion.s. 

Q, Contusions? 

BY JR . PIT; TON: 

Q, By contusions -,:rou man bruises  do you, Doctor? 

tissues were swollen, inflamed, tht v.-as what vie call co 

tus Ion. 

Q, There rasno excretion of af`./ mat ter at an.? 
what? 

Q No blood. A - 1-Tot on tho •surface 

Q, Nowhere? A A contusion i.F3 a congested cond it 

the blood ye ss els . 

Q, Yes, but the re wasn'tany. d charge 

any d scharge on th,,?. outside 

You would have ha d to use a mi cros c ope 

T. T, COURT: It was internal?, It wasn t on the OW 

foce war on the inside. 

A Tn..: o such thing on the surf ace. 

BY I f 114.ID.E1 : 

Q, Did 1i. tie tell :you anything about how she 

uri (s? ¶rj,i3tr; th related to --e hov the 

occurred. 



o did? yes, sir. 

itt. APPLETON: What was 

hear it? 

( Answer readby s t enogr apher . ) 

BY B. APPTZTOIT: 

0 That is, the little tr,irl herself did? 

TM. HOCHFELDER: That is all, Doctor.; 

A LANDEN C. BRIDGES? 

behalf of the People, being duly sworn 

DIRECT EXANINATIOJ'Y BY APPtRTON: 

Q, You are a d• ly licensed and pracd.cing physic 

-iva-ps,..,-on under tile lraTI$ Of the state of New York? A 

Q And you have been such how long? A 25 yeat'S. 

•L, And during tint tine ha -v-e you prar:ticed your pro—

fession in the City of New York? • A Except what time 

in Europe; yes,. sir.. 

Q , zn our studying? A Yes, sir. 

knd you have 'earned 7'our living by means of the pr 

Lice of :roux profession; in that correct, sir? A ha 

Q, No.v, in the. nonth of February of this year didPO 

e 'amine a -li Louisa1,z7illiaxas? A - I did. 

Q, There :-.ou called a t their house  122 West 28th 

.•• 



How many children did yOu' examine 

at two children d.id you e xamine?. 

Louise vilhiam:3 and the o the r-

TIOCILB'ELDER May I ask ur Hon 

to allow the jury to confine itself to this 

person and not to any other person? 

P.. APPLETON: .Don t say anything abOut the O. 

d ano uir 

Pa. HOC JEFELDER : I wi sh 

er s is t in this line of exami a tion the Court 

7.1 LT, -CI, OUR T : Yes  tike out any reference' 

examina ti on oTr any o the r hhild „ 

BY 'AM. APPLETON: 

Q, What day was it you examine d Couie. wi11iam0?-

was on tile 10th of el) ruary , as far as -I 17.e.rionibp 

Te 10 th of ruar 7r? A The 1.0.th of Fe'bru'ary..  

Q, That was one clay after Dr. Nagel had examined - the chil 

A sir. Yes, 

0, Now \?ill ou T) le a se s ta te to the .Cour .and 3ury what 

you obsf--rved-, - hit p ax t di you' examine first? , A The pri-

vate p:ir ts n t al orFans• 

0,, You t: xar .int!d Ll'e T)rivto p tp. the -,P;en.i. .t al organs? 

A yea, . 

Cs; 1o.' , 11 r r tE, t t • a jury what 11 



you observed from your examination of this :0 

liars on t:he 10th day of rebruar-,,r, 19089 

, particular 1)r1)es on the outside parts, but on 

r s, corresponding to ''Ahat• 'we call the laytne 

of the lips I found thoPe •-par ts bruised, what We 

d re dd -ne d There W a :3 no discharge particularly 

time and so far as I vas able to riace out there was 

complete perforation. IfT;lhat vIe call the hymen was more or 

le ss in t; a6 t. t was not c omp le telY broken. The inju

v.ta5 br ought a ga ins t the Par ts , the surrounding p r ts . 



Q That was on the inside of the 

-on the outside, but on the inside of the 1.1. 

Q, And the 'hymen was somewhat brolcen, 

A No, it was a very small '1-.,erforation„ as far 

at the time. 

Q You did not open the opening further at 

A No, I did. not . I did not consider that was ne20 

QJ You did not consider that that was neceosaryat 't 

time? You did not want to increase the opening any Acre:, 

possible? A No, 

As I understand it doctors are very careful 

breaking or injuring, in breaking .in the hymen, is t 

correct? A We leave it alone as -fax as we can. 

Q But tl-B bruises, 'Jae inflammation, was mit on 1 

outside of the genital organs, but on the :insider A 

the outside, but on the inside, as far as I can remain 

The mucuous membrane, what we call the 'mucuou.s m.enibratieAf• 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY 1J . HOCIEPET, 

Q Doctor, you did not find the hymen punctured) tortV 

did you'T A As far as I remember, there was not .aoomple 

perfcr at i on , but there was a little hole. 

C: Now, Doctor, little girls of the age of seven, Ao yo. 

find little holes in the Yymen? 

. API-72TM I 1.--)ec ycilr Honor  s pardon. I d040 

v 0,vstiun. 

-• _ 



COURT: Read the question,. 

(Question  read by stenographer) 

THE COURT: Objection sastaine4 

•tion. 

BY 10. HOCHFEIZER: 

a, Doctor, do you. find little holes in hyme 

openings for the disC large of anything?_ Does natuil' 

.a little opening in the hymen? A It should. 

Q It d ces? A It should. 

Q It should? A Yes sir, 

rovide 

Q And. if na ture works properly, it invariably doe.6 

a li tt le hole in the ymen to the center of it? 

liable to. 

Q, Yes, and what -particular function or duty does, 

little hole perform in the men? A At that age it h 

none. Later on it has. 

Q, Now, at the age o £seven, you would find 81,10h a 

hole there as you found in the hymen? A Well, ther, 

should b e an opening, a puncture there, at 1 eait an **Snip 

1113. APPLETON: He asked you if you would find sga 

a one as you did find there. 

TI-D1 COURT: You c an have the Dootor later. Prti*efi 

BY MR HOCBTEL EER : 

Now, such as you did find, would you consider It 
non lal? A 1c. 



Q Now, why not? A In the first glace*, 

reddened the edges of the opening, or the edge 

brene , as we call it, the edges were reddened., -411 

call lacerated, I mean by that, very slight 

opened more or less. I was congested. Tt was 

The whole membrane was red ened congested, bloc 

•please. I do not---n- blood but. it looked as,,, 

had been there on that. 

BY TI.D1 COURT: 

Q, Do you mean by that contUsion? A 

m.ucuous membrane, not the same as we find 

BY 1613. 1-10CFSEL1ER: 

Doctor, in how many ways could such a contusi• d 

accomplished, as you found? A There are various waif, 

• could happen. 

Q, Can you enumerate o.me, please? A Well, thAt 001.1, 

be done--- the c bud could hardly do that herself. 

be done by falling against a, blunt instrume. nt, perhaps the 

round of a chair, or the top of a chair. I say % it might. 

was not done by any sharp instrument, but it locked as if i, 

were done by same blunt instrument. 

Q It might be accomplished by sliding down bannisters 

A ro I hardly. 

Well, it might be accomplished by the insertion of a 
candle? A Well, that could doit;  yea, s ir. 



instrument that 

uorSZ.Z. MR41001004r,3.2e*:"..irm7.3-

each sharp instrument-

s not too hard, migh 

Q That particular object whioh migh 

not necessarily have a yielding nature need it 

yielding nature be ela,sti 

have a slightly yielding nature. 

It would necelis 

A hard sUbatanee OUld 

and lacerate it, but the injury that was done here .*ä  

by a hard. substance. 

Q Now, look at that man there, Mr.Monbrun eon' 

would. you say that it could have been done by hiSlia.* 

when it was in a state of erection? Would it tear it 

wise ---

MR . APPLETON: Now, one question at a tiMe 

Honor: "Could it have been done by his male :or 

it was in a state of 'erection". 

that. That is one question. 

TIM *COURT: Yes. 

THE WITNESS: That is possible, ye a, 

BY MR. HOCHFELDF: 

Q, And do you think that it would cause a greater 

than that which you had examined, by the insertion of 

male organ?- A On the outside parts no. 

Q, Well, on the inside parts, woula it break the 

through? A If it had gone all the way through,, 



ow, the hymen is not very far rem)* 

a little girl seven years age? 

beginning the vagina, that is the curtain. 

Q Yes, it is almost toge, her, in close pro; 

entrance of the hymen, and the entrance of the vag 

A Well, in. a way, it i s. 

Q, Well, then, if he entered this little girlta 

he would enter it with out how many inches in depth? 

claim that it did not enter that. I sag that the peetO4 

and the laceration was not sufficient for complete ear 

I say that the inflammation, the .contustion Which was t 

only on the NI( out  The sit tear was not Suffte 

complete entrance. 

Q, Now, Doctor, from the wall of the membrane that 

examined, to the wall outside, to the skin, to the epidertaiS 

to the fleshy part of the outside body, how far is the 0140-• 

t ance? A That wou d depend. Perhaps in,this child., it 

rose naturally into the parts. Perhaps, you might say a 

half inch, not an inch. 

Q, A half inch? Then, in order to cause an entry, his 

male organ would enter only half an inch about, and then come 

in contact with the wall only about half an inch in? A That 

could be possible. 

Q Now, I want fro ask you this question. In a state or 
erection, of a man of that development, of his development,: 



• • 

„ 

of 'his develoPmen bow long or how leng-W 

organ, about? A Well, 1 should have to gilt: 

should imagine, perIaps five or five and a 

six inches. 

And. ancsatiodtkg may the hole five inches penek rate that 

wall of that membrane? A Aisuming that the hymen were 

pletely ruptured, I say it is not impossible, Assumi 

the hymen were ruptured, or torn completelY, I Wu* 

that is not impossible. I do not say it would haspen 

say it is not impossible at that age. 

Q, To have ca,u sed that injury? 

that. That is not the question you 

Q Now, Mr. Stenographer, mill you kindly read 

question, please? 

MR. KPPLETON: I object. The jury heard the cluestion 

and answer. 

(Last Lwo questions and answers read by stenographer). 

MR. HOCHFELDER: Now, if your Honor please, I did not 

quite understand that, aui I do not think the jury did. 

UR. APPTXTON: I did, and I think the jury did, 

THE CCURT: The Doctor may repeat his answer. 

THE WITNESS: I say that a complete hymen, I say that 

it is impossible for the organ to have entered five 

or five and a half inches. I have turned it around0 I a' 

that a complete hymen with no more perforation than in 

A No1 I do not 



this case, it is impossible fof 

that di stance. say that at sight 

able organ to make entrance that L:* 

it is impossible. ,And that is what 1 me 

unusual , but I say thatit is .possible• 

BY M. APT,F,TON: 

Q Unusual, but pos sible? A Unusual; yes 

sa,y it is possible. 

BY MR. HOCITELD/23: 

Q, Now, if you will now assume that the lvmen 

in that little girl of that age and a Person, as we 

described, would enter the vagina and come in cottac 

the hymen, would he break that hymen, would he •penetr 

the way through? A Not necessarily so. That depertd0,1k 

the violence or force. It does not depend upon the. 

Q But he could, Doctor, he could break it entit 

through? A Certainly. 

Q. Certainly, and he would cause great injury? A . 

sir. 

Q, .An. injury such as you will kindly describe, some 

injury? 

MN. APPLETON: Oh, I object 

a condition as we find it, sir; 

that.We are te*tri 

And he has a rig** 

I apprehend, on c ross-examination, to al'iow what mig1115. 

caused that injury,  but he should not go beyond the 



• 

dence which was described. 

THE COURT: What is the question, 

(question read by stenographer). 

MR. APPLETON: That is, if by some  chance!. 

defendant entirely penetrated and broke the 

THE COURT: Yes, objection sustained. 

BY IBR . HOCITELDER: 

Q, Now, in answer to the ouestion that great injUrY *to 

be sustained, what else would happen? Will you tell us 

that we may be enlightened, besides 'breaking t 

MR. APPLETON: I object. 

TiM COURT:. Objection sustained. 

MR. HOCHFELDER : That s. all, if your Honor 

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q, Did that injury look to you to be a recent qr 

injury? A That was rather recent  I _s hpuld say, from oy, 

ex.amination. 

Q Now, in a case of a full grown man taking a child 

of that age, and pressing his private parts into the lips and. 

against the )tyx hymen, and possibly playing there, the inttury 

would not be expected to be any more than it. was? A Not at a 

for the child would resist when it came to actual pain. 

0, But if the penetration had been complete, and the 

organ had gone entirely in, the child would have cried out it 

pain, that is what I am getting at? A She should have; yes, 



• 

* 

sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

g, Just a minute, Doctor. From the coOd 

you found the sexual organs of the little girl 

the hymen, would you say, in your opinion, that 

a penetration to that extent by some blunt instrtzme 

the extent, I shouldi assume that there had been, 

Q, What? A I do not claim that there was  

I claim that there was a force directed against it, 

course, the hymen being elastic and resilient, thst-,gei, 

against it, and that was where the bruises came from on  

parts but if there was a penetration of the parta,, 

male organ of another, as very easily could have 

have seen, there would have been a hemorrhage, 

Q In your opinion, Doctor, in order to have a POW 

tion into the sexual organs-- I do not say what distencgt 

I say a penetrationtRim into the organs-- is it newess 

that the hymen should have been destroyed? A Not al 

SOPHIA w I L LIAM S, called as a witness in behalf 

of the People, being duly sworn, testified. as follow; 

DIRECT MANINATION BY le'R. APPITTON: 

0, Will ,voi x:lease speak in a loud enough tone for tOoti 

last juror to hear? Are vm t}:c mother of- Louise Williams? 



• 

A Yes, 

How old s ,ghe? A She is seven. 

On the,second. of 3/ay. 

O. She will be eight on the second o.f May 

A This year. 

Q, Are you a • married woman? A Yes,sir. 

Q: Have you any other children? , A Yes, s 

Q Do you live with your 'husband? A Yes; 

• 

And where dtdyou live with your husband on t 

of Februe,ry, 1909? A 132 West 28th Street. 

Q Do you live there now Yes sir. 

Q, How long ktaltlit had you lived tlaere 

to the 8th of February, 1909? A Going 

Q, That kind of a house is that, describe it? 

flat house. 

Q, How many stories high?A Four 

Q How many fl ats on a floor? A Three, 

Q, Which floor do you live on? A On the top ritlori 

the rear. 

Q How many rooms do you have? A Four roontS anci :b401.1:i!( 

0 And there you lived at that time, and do. 3.A.se 

with your husband n,rxi child? A Yes, sir, 

Q On the 8th of February, 1909, out supper t4t4ei 

will say, did you g out of your house? • A Yes, sir*: 

there jbody with you when you went out o 



house? A Yes, sir; my little g 

Q, Was your hu sb and home at 

Q, Where was he? He was si 

covered with blanket ES the radiator. 

And you and your little child Louise •w: 

went out to the store to do apme marketing, 

Q And do you recollect &lout what hour 't 

about half-past six. 

Q Well, did you return to your house 

marketing? A Ye s, sir. 

Q Around what time was it when you returred 

house? A Well, it was quite near Seven o cloak. 

Q Did you go upstairs? A Yes sir, 

Did a, thing happen on the way upstairs to 'Your 

A Yes; sir; my little girl aak d me if she could ,go. itto 

rooms of W. Monbrup. , She, heard two other little Isirl,s 1,11, the. 

room that lived on the top floor, and she went in to /Welt 

Itonbrunt s room"; with the other little two girls that he alWaYs 

used to call, and pick u and. kiss. He hal. promised My 

little girl a balloon, 'at d en3r8) "Mama, can I go in to S30 

if he hriB got my balloon?" So, I said, "Yes, you call", because 

she had been in there) and because. I thought no ,herm out „its 

I let ter r c in. So I let 3-,.er go in because this gentleman 

was standing at the deor--

© 'non y Cll %),:: this gentleman, do you anean the deerstatit,: 



Mr. Monbrun? A Yes, sir. 

0 You saw him standing in the door? 

little girl went in, went on up tbe 

Q- Now, do you remember whether the door 

your little girl went into th.e room? A N-o, 

Q, Did. you observe whether the door was oppil 

when you went upstairs? A No I did no 

Q Now, about how long did Your little girl 

before anything el hal.pened? A 

hour. 

Q What were you doing n the Meantime? A Co* 

supper. 

Q .Then did you do something about that. tim. 

to your child? A Well, I 7rent and called- her to bow: 

Q You went out into the tlal lway? A. The 11414 

over the bannistars and. called for her to come Inastitt 

supper. 

Q What happened then? A The little girl oalne-04 

said tkiat r. i'Aonbrun said. she willbe right upetartt 

That is the little girl that was in here  A tda 

Giordano. 

T C 1-7E LDER : May it please the Court., thód 

dent was not present. 

75i APPLET : I consent that what the little 

sron s -icken fr i t:17e record. 



ttrf.r* 

Q, Did you observe whether Ida, the 

the door when she came out? did no 

Q At all event 8, Ida Giordano,, came óu 

thing to you? A She said--

Q Yes, or no? A Yes sir, 

, Now, after Ida .came out,that d 

I •thought - - 

Q Never mind what you thou 

HOC3-YELtER: If the defendant 

ask that that be stricken out. 

said. 

1B. APPLRT ON : I 

THE COURT: No if it is of a 

not go in, it will not go in. 

Q, Now, don t say what you thought 

question. If you will only answer my questions as biiiq 

possible, just yes or no we will get along mudh_betts 

you called downstairs to your daughter, and after Ida Gfor 

came out of Mr. Munb run ' s room, what did. you do? A I *In 

1,ack into r ourn and f ini shed my supper. 

Q Well, 3-low long wercyou doing it? A I should say ten' 

(,r fifteen minutes. 

- C T:len t d you 1:0 next? A came outand o 

ac run T en she cam,- :-unninr upstairs. 

1 741,..-e. irs too fast. You went out 



from your rooms? 

And called down the stairs? A Y 

Do you recollect what you called? A Yes, 

Q What did, you say? A. Iôalled, "Louise, come tqii-
stairs." 

Q, Then as you called Louise, what happened? A S 

came running up-stairs, and was all excited. 

TAR . HOC ITELDER : I object to the word "excl.ted:", 

unless the witness says how. she was. 

BY Tirs COURT: 

9, How did skE appear. to be? A All excited.. 

Q What 'makes you say she was excited? A 

was nervous. 



MR APPLE TON.: 

THE. COURT: 

Plhat did sheF3ay or 

consent that that be 

s ,s t rlk.e ou t e cited 

She came r unnt 

the stairs and said, "Oh, mama, rimer  papa", and ran 

past me. 
Or do 

Q. Now thatw  else did she say when the came twin Mg .9 

you-, what el se did she ray? . • A d she w anted to 

tell me some thing that Mr. Monbrum had done to  here" 

Q, she said th t as she was running up s t irs p ast you? 

Yes., Sir. 

Q, And • did ;he keep. 'oh -running past. ou? Yeas. 

and ran on in to the parlor to ri.T husband si tting a 

radiator. 

Did -,,,rou follow her? A Yes., sIre 

Q, .Now, ktat v, as her condition when she reached, her. 

father's side? A Her Gond ti on was so she could no .t laar 

speak at all, a rid her father S • asking er,.whät was . the matter. 

Q, Now, did you hear what she told he.r. father? A Yea', • `• 

sir. 

Q, t d :;he tell :Ili? A • She said Mr. • 310 nbr aum had 

ta ker -Tar and put; he r 

.14R. COCITELDER : I Obi cot to • that. • 

THE COUR:2: Yes . 

ITIR . HOCHIPELDER : Jsy I ask lir , Apple ton a learned 

Di:: (:ri t , not; to persist in asking such qua e-



ti Ono . 

THE COURT: Yes, you have yo 

objectio7a1le questions are &aced!, , 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

ct Just answer this with a yes.or iii 

Louise, . in our presence tell . to her father vihal 

the defendant, lir. .tOnbrauii, had done her?. 

0, Now, when Loui se •cane up stciirs from Mr. ItOtiP 

rooms, did o u • e e Mr nbr aura in the 

could not look into his 77 oom -because he lives below 

the front, 

Q, you saw him in the room when you went ups tairtv 

did; yes, sir. 
after said 

Q, Now, xfixildiyaur child Louise., *atm 

hus be nd , did your hu. sb and speak to, you? 

oomething 

Why 

0, Nov) don't tall r10 wha t he said; .jut yea 

A Yes 

Q, 

bend? 

sir. 

And did •'ou hb-N• a conversation then with your IMO 

A Yes, sir. 

of 444se 

or nO 

Q V.Tha. t was the next thing .that. happened after your 

c 4ver sati on witth your Cousin, so far: as the defendant' -110 

br urn. 7i_ c one rned? A Well,my husband he . had W. MoxfpraUm--

in 1.-.hr.? hall and celled him upstairs. 

Q, Yoilr :17r:14%11. caned a' Monbr zlum uns t airs? A He 

called . .r...ontrr 11I; s t iire ; ye s . 



ntra".. a-a 

Did he come upstairs? 

Did 0 ur u1:3'e)and 

ye s) 

k t Mr Mo0r4 

vh.t ,d /17 husband -ay, to. Mr Monbr 

him t he had one t o his child 

tre asked him wha, t he Iff.d done o the child? 

he raid he hd done nothing, aid husb an said tha 

child had told him he. hrd done so an 

0 --raj.a riinute You have go t to tell i 

talk ine; to him in French, 

LIR. tOCHFELDER : 

defend ant was presen 

. APPLETON: 

e c t 

present. He tia.5 talIctrig to him. 

Q, C an.:-ou in  ars t and 'French? 

but I did not unders and that par t. 

Q,. I did not ask you whe or you under s to od "Ilse 

a eked you he tiler :rou und ers ood 'c7ha t your husband said 

Nonhrurn. A No, I did not understand that. 

Q, Now, :rou have told all that, What did Mr. Monbrtun s 

o our hn Bb and? 

R. C.',I OP:ADM : Nov, I object to that if that. 

a ris, :er s in Pench. 

BY TIT COURT: 

0 Di( allrl..ktr in 7-.P:r.r&I English? A In Prezio 



I 5, 

8t did he *ay?:-A re said th a t he 

the child. 

t didhe Gay French? A I c 

7rench, but I can under3tand, 

Do you r emember the viorth that he .2.sed? 

TH7 COURT: Very well; strike that 

C ord . 

BY MR. APPLETON.: 

Q, Did your child say anything at that t me 

Q, you. rec olleo t v.rha t was said? A 

Q, She told you in French or English? 

spoke partly in French 'and partly in Enf71 

b'peeic very pood French. 

Q Did :rou ob serif- the def end ant while there? 

Q Will you desfr be his a c tion (3nd demeanor on 

si on yin —oilr husband asked him wh t he ha d done to his 

A He s sil sjited and ran ri ht out of the room, 

rt HO njamm I obi eo t to the word ',exalt d 

' . APPLE TON : I v sen t that 1t be stricken .012. 

THE : Tell what he did. 

13Y la APPLE TON: 

Q, Your ezres rested up on th defendant? A Yes, sir 

Q. And ne did sorthing the t caused o conclusion in io 

2,1rd ? 



MR. HOCHPELMR: object  to, that ap 

El;a: Yes, you anIst. tell who t 

and how he ppear ed to 

TIE WI 1.1111135 : V 

d bating.) 

ITY THE COURT: 

Q, Like what? A Nervous. 

Q, He did what? A Well he was all worked up like 

tha t 

Q, iphy do ;,„rou B ay tho ? A I oanno't express rlyself in 

an other 1,ray- - in _a, tronbly, ways 

Q, Oh, he wan '7:xenbliig? s 

BY IT . APPLETON: 

q Now then, did :rou a ,xiin daurt. ter' '5 Private part..  

t'rla t night? A I did. 

And what did ;rou do with thera? 

1 like this 

After that, the next day, did ',"ra'w tan: f',h.e doctor? 

A Yes,Sir. 

Q How r15n:7- doe tors? A I calledDr. Nagel fis t, 

Q, And tien af terward s? A I called rly Ol.;11 hone physic Ian, 

Dr. Bri firres 

Q Two days af terwards? A The next day afterwards. 

Q, You e clic d Dr. 1Ta,,e) th- first day after? A Yes, 

And thtn *nr . Br i dge s the day after that? A ye, s ir 



;). 

o that you called Dr, nridges two days after the Oc*-

currence ? s 

Q That correct?. -A Yes, sir... r. 

Q. now long was -tc:e d et end ant in our spar tbien t s on 

occasion? A It was not five minutes. 

And what did he d,o? A Tre trent and went 

in front. 

Who is that? A That is Mrs..fGiordano, 

HR. APPLETON: You may cross -e )(amine-- oh, j 

one other question, unless it is conceded that the 

fend ant i not married to Louise Williims? 

MR. 710 CITFELDER : Oh, ye 9, we will concede 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. HOCTIFMD4R: 

Q Now, lir. s . Willians :cr:o ur little daughter, of courser 

does not. spE ak 111-•ench1' A qhe sp-e,aks a little French,_ 

Q, You do not know how much be cause you do not Anadia 

Attuarnati know yourself how to speak PI' ench? No I do not, 

Q, Now, of ter 7C1.1 re turned f or.1 the ma rke t you began. 

to make. 7our supper? A Yes, _sir. 

Q, And on your way up, on the third floor, zr-ou left Your 

little. child, 70u? A Yes 

Q. And the little child ent,red the apar traer, ts Of Mr, 

ronbr um? . A Y25, sir 

Q, And :You saw her rt. 0 in? A I dd.. 



• 

gi• And be: en ter , before the little -girl, 

1 id you ee any o the r girls there? A. TWO. 

Q, And Fiere vrere they,.Ole two? A. In. the room. 

They 'Jere in the room'? A Yes, sir. 

Q. Were •t ley on the bed playing? A No. 

Or where were they; exactly? A Playing =On* , 

in f-.-42e r °am. 

Q, Playing in 1ii room? 

Q, 

Yes f:$ ir 

And the door \vas open when you: came up? A-. Yes,, 

te door was open. 

Q, And invariably, if you remember, the doors of Mr. itan-

r 01711 s ap a r tMen ts axe always open are they not? 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that. 

TIM COURT: Who t was the, ciu est i on Mr. StenOgraph—

or? 

( que t ion r clad by s ten ographe r . ) 

THE COURT: I will allow the answer., 

. IPPLETON: 1Nha t is the answer? 

( The Court then cdmonished the jury in accordance 

wi th mac tion 415 of the Code of criminal procedure 

and adj °urn sd t:le further trial o'f' thi•s case u:tIl 

to-1 lor ow rriornin, Wodiesday, Ar,r il 7, 1909, at 10:30 

o'clock a .7- ) 



THE PEOPLE .715, EDWARD MOVBRUM: 

New York, April 7/ 1909. 

TRIAL CONTINUED 

MR. ROCIMIDIfit: At this 

a 

ime, may it pleas, 

Court, I will renew the mdtion to have all the wi 

nesses re-excluded for today. 

TIM COURT: Yes. 

SOPHIA WILLI AMS,recalled: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY 18R. APPLETON (Continued) 

MR. APPLETON: If your Itomor please 

lookimg Over the testimony that there was 

of a question which I intended to ask. 

TIM COURT: You may ask her now. 

Q Madame, when your little child Louise went into 

the room of the defendant what was her condition as to nor* 

vousness? 

MR. HOTRITMDER: Why, one moment, if your Honor 

please, I object to that.' 

APPLETON: I withdraw the question. 

You Bald when your little child came upstairs she 

was trembling and excited and crying? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Wow, .with that in mind, what was her condition 

when she went into the room of the defendant? 



HOCRFELDER: I obj es t to tha t 40 

BY TO. COURT: 

Q How did she appear to be when she went int° 

if you know? A She appeared to be all righ 

BY MR R. APPLETON: 

Q Just normal and right? A Just normal and r 

MR. APPLETON! That is 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. HOCKFELDER: 

Q Mrs. Williams, you are not a lady. 

A No, sir. 

Q And you do not speak the French language? 

Q Your husbamd does? A Yea, sir. 

And on the night of February the 8th  do you remember 

the exact hour when you returned from your marketing tOtilit 

A NOt the exact hour, no, I do not. 

Q Approximately, around What time? A Well, it W18 

about half past six, twenty minutes after, 'possibly. 

Q Was it nearer seven? A Near seven, about half past 

six, from between that time and seven o'clock. 

Q Now, you have stood upon the landing or floor of MI 

fourth floor quite frequently, of your house, have you uot 

A Yes sir; I have. 

cl And of course 3ou could not see into Mr. Maarten". 

roam? A No, I could not. 



6.1 
• 

. . 

Q And that is Imrcause of what fact? is it tie0aUSO. 

there is a tarn to the nonmr-hall which leads into MX. M:On" 

brunOv apartment? A Well I live in the front and he. 

lives in the back, and there is a private hall, so that 

cannot look in there. 

Q Yes, there is a private hall, and you have to enter 

the private hall before you came tO .1lz.lUnibimmes room? A Yes 

Q 10w, if your little daughter testifies that yo 

• standing on the top floor and yotrwere talking to her when 

she was in Mr. Monbrmm's room, and that,Irou could see her, 

that would not be correct would it? 

MR. APPLETON: I-object to that, 

THE.COURT: Please read the question. 

(Question read by Stenographer) 

'jrE WITNESSP: ro4 it would not. 

MR. APPLETON: Will you, not please wait. 

that the answer be stricken out. 

THE COURT: Strike out the question and answer: 

BY MR. HOCHFELDER: 

Q Mrs. Williams, you never talked to Louise while you 

were standing on that top floor and looking into Ml'. Monbrimen 

roam, have you looked at your daughter/ 

MR. APPLETON: I object to the form of the question. 

TER COURT: will allow the questiom 



Q You never did talk to her that way 

when she was in his room?? 

Q And see her face ,to face? A Why, hovi cola 

I,. was om the top landing. 

Q, Now, it is a pbyicalitpoastbility to do that*, ill 

it? Your eye-. could Trot sea, around the corner and see the 

little child? 

MR . APPLETON: I object to that 

THE COURT: Objection sustained'. 

Q Now, after you made your supper you and your husband 

had supper together, did you? A NO, we did not have Our 

supper toge the r. 

Q You had it alone? A NO. 

Q: Well, how did you have it? A W 

child came ups tairs. 

Q, That is not my question? Did you have supper after-. 

you made it? You made supper on the evening of February 

did you not? irm, did you eat that- supper? A NO I did-

rtic t. 

Q Well, did you make it for yourself? A NO, sir. 

Q, For wham did you make it? A For n7 husband and child,. 

Q, You did not eat supper? A I was not feeling maw. 

Q Your hisband was waited on by you, you served the 

dishes? A Yes, sir. 

cr To  served the dishes for little Loliitie? 



And she ate her supper? A 

Q Oh, she did not? A 

Q Wells, where was Louise after au common 

supper? 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that because sliss'tsi, 

stated that she commenced to serve supper at aU 

MR. HOCITELDER: Why, she did say she served re,001)0 

for her husband. 

THE COURT: Then make that statemen 

BY MR. HOCTIFEDDER: 

Well, you served supper for your husband, did you 

A Yes, sir. 

Now, while you were serving supper 

where was Louise!? A She was ONO, 

Q Downstairs? A Downstairs while X was gettingAA% 

served. 

And how long did she remain downstairs? A She 

mained downstairs for about half an hew, twenty minUte0 

half an hour. 

Q And until around what time? A Well, I 001V2d 110 

really swear to that. 

Q Well, you commenced to make supper around 

if you remember? A About a quarter to seven. 

(4, And did it take ;rou about fifteen minutes to ask 



tUpper ready? . A Oh nO4 it would take A 

minutes or half an hour. 

And then she remained downstairs dboa' 

A Something like that. 

Q She remained downstairs until about half pas 

Something like that. 

Q Don't you remember that it was about eight 0 

A Oh, no. 

Q About half past seven? A About that 

Q And then you called her, did you? 

her twice. 

Q And she came upstairs? A Yes, 

Supperwas over, was it? A No, it Was net, 

Q, Your husband had already eaten? 

eaten yet. 

Q Well, do yow remember whether he Commenced eatiO 

supper about 77:3_5 P. M.?' A 110 I could not swear to ,t4 

Q Let us see, at a quarter to seven you made your s4 

and you say it tookyou say it took you about teenty—f ver 

minutes? A About that. 
• 

Q Well, that would be about ten minutes after seven. 

are sure you did not serve supper about fifteen minUtell 

later/ A My husband did not eat. He was 'mitt,* for 

to come upstairs. 

q He did not? A He was waiting for 11011ise to 0011 



sta 

Q: 'Eft, What was the first thing Louise ditlft 

called her, you called her twice? A Yes) B114, 

Q And you did not go downstairs? A NO, I did 4a. 

Q Well, what did she do when she cane? llourtold 

"Louise., your supper is ready"? A Yes, s 

q What did she do ? A Well, when I called her the 

time she came running upstairs all frighteneft , 

MR. HOCHFELDER: I ask that that word be stricken_ 

out. 

THE WITNESS: Well, r do not know h tosayit 0th! 

wise. I could not say it otherwise. 

BY DIE COURT: 

Q How did she appear to be when she came upstairs? 

A Frightened and she had a little shawl over her head An, 

it was all kind of like fussed with. 

BY W. ROCITELDER: 
q What kind of a shawl? 

THE COURT: row, answer that question, please. let 

did she do? That is the question 'that is asked i".ou4, When 

she came up-stairs. 

THE WITNESS': She came running upstairs, and swot 
Mama 

"Oh,// want to see Papa, I want to tell him WhatlitagOlOr 

Monbrum did to me." So she ran into her Papa sitting in the 

front room by the radiator in the Morris chair- covered up 

with tlanketslbecause he had been sick. So went in dirge 



• and heard What Mr. Mombrum had done to her an 

tontthed TEdid not know What to do. 

BY MR. APPLETOIR 

(1 What did your child do? 

MR. HOCRYELDER: I object to that part that 

astonddhed and did not know What to do. 

THE COURT: Yes, strike out What She did. 

THE WITNESS: She went in t'her Papa and tOld him 

what Mr. Monbrum had done. 

(4 What did She do? A So when she' told her Papa wbat 

Mr. Monbrum did) so when L came in she repeated it tO 

he heard mr. Monbrum downstairs in the hall. 

IRE COURT: Now, that is not as to What the little 

girl did. 

THEW IQ! ,SSE: That is all she did. 

THE COURT: Tell us what happened? Mid She do a*" 

thing else? Where did she go after. that?? 

THE WITNESS: She came to me. She was erYing. 

said, "MAma smell my hands." She says, Mama he put OCIfte 

thing on my hands." So I says, "Teu go right straight 

to the toilet and wash your hands." Then she, of cenraes, 

went and washed her hands. 

MR. HOCHMDER: I object to that. The child d 

testify as to his putting something on her 'undo 



THE COURT: You asked her What the WI 

in answer to a question as to what the child 

everything that the child did after she cams upstair 

that evening is perfectly competent as a 

question. 

MR. HOCHFELDER: But not what this witness did: 

THE COURT: Now then, tell what the child did? 

MR. HOCHFraER: May I beg your Honor's pardon!? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. HatlitETELDER: This part, what this witness is 

testifYing to, that the child said, 

about what the child said, if the child 

fled to that particular thing. 

THE COURT: Well, continue,H and 

what the child d Id, (To the witness) 

e can 0n33 tee 

already te 

unless what you did was necessarAY a Part, of what the.: 

child did. 

THE WITNESS :I' So then she asked to go to bed.. 

said she wanted to go to bed. She had been contio410,39/ 

going. So then I went and examined her and/mated her 

HOCHFELDER: I object to that and MOTO that 

be stricken out. 

THE COURT: Yes, strike that out. 

THE WITNESS: And then 



3. 

THE' COURT: And I direct the ZUry to"p 

to 'anything she did unless it was neeelOS*ik 

what the Child did.. 

THEPUITNESSI So that was all. She w 

anything. So she went to bed. 

BY T RE COURT: 

(1 Is that all? A That was all. 

BY ER ROCHFELDEB1 

CI, Do you remember how long shs slept that night? A Wea 

she slept until about midnight, towards morning she 

gP and she started to cry, and she said She had pains in 

her stomach. So  then my husband said it was best to. call 

the Doctor. 

MR. HOCH:Minn: I object to that and ask that that 

be stricken out, and I ask that theXury be directed to die* 

regard' it. 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. ROCHFELDER: DftpressiOns of this kind are hurtfa 

to this defendant, and I an going to ask your Honor to Da-

struct this witness not to make these remarks, and / will 

ask the District Attorney not to elicit' any such facts. 

MR. APPLETON: I Chink the statement of counsel is 

entirely bmproper. I have been very silent during the 



v!. 

last fear minutes. 

THE COURT: It is the privilege or unoo 

to any  a.nswer of a witness and move to strike it 0 

he thinks is iMproper; or any improper question or , 

District Attorney of a .witness. II have stricken out 

answer; and Whatever instructions ihottld be given by 

Court will be given. 

MR. ROMPELDER: Thank you. 

THE COURT: Proceed. 

BY MR. ROCKFEIXER: 

Nbw; on the next morning; February the 9th, you went 

somewhere with the child? A E did what? 

Q Did you go to the polite station? A NP, I did not, 

Q Well, did some one else go to yons own knowledge? 

THE COURT:. What time?' 

Q a the morning or in the afternoonl? A I' gUess it 
when the Doc tor came, 

was towards afternton. He went to the station house. 
A 

Q He went with the child? A No, he did not. 

Q He went alone? A He went alone. 

Do you know at what time he went to the station house -

alone? A I could not tell that. 

Q Did he come to seeypu in the morning? 

MR. APPLETCN: What morning? 

MR. ROM:MIXER: February 9th, I au apeaktig of that 



' V; 

particU3.ar day. 

VIE WITNESS: The next d ay. 

Q What particular time did he come the next d 

could not swear to that. 

q. 

been 

this? 

What hour? A I could not swear to the hour* 

Wasrit eleven o'clock? A IcoUld not swear to tha 

Was it before your dinner? A I Chink BO. 

Did you sent for the Doctor? A "Yes, sir, 

He is your regular house doctor? A No sir; he has 

waiting on my husband. 

Your husband had been sick for a long time prior to 

A No, only a week, that is all. 

And he, was not your regular doctor? A 

doctor. 

Q He was a Ioftge doctor? A Yes, sir. 

Q He was your husband's doctor before, DT. Bagel?? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Some two or three occasions perhaps? A Wells'abOut 

that I guess. 

Qc Was he doctoring him for some particular disease?? 

A No, only a cold. 

Q How many times was the Doctor in your apartment Was 

he there twenty times? A No, not twenty times. 

- R. APPUTON: I object to that. It is so issisttral* 



THB COURT: Objection sustained. 

Q At 'whose request did Dr. Nagel go to the p040 

tion? 

MR. APPLETON: Oh, I object, to tha 

, THE COURT: Read the question again, MT. Steno 

exr. 

(Question read) 

MR. APPLETON': r wi thdleaw the objection. 

Q Did he go at your request? 

MR. APPLETON: The question i "At 

Or suggestion did the doctor go to the police stati011 

THE WITNESS: Why, I think it was my hints:less 

Arenft you sure it was not at your request? A +IC 

requelt2 

Q That it was not at your •request, that is that yOti 

not ask him, but that your husband asked him? A DT. Nagel 

asked my husband what we thought about it if we did nOt 

Chink that we ought to have this man arrested, and so we 

of course, said yes. 

Q And you were present at the time? A At the time. 

Q And do' you remember whether your husband said, ITO, We 

don't want to make any trouble"? A No, he did not. He 

said yes. 

Q Sure about that? A I am sure about that. 



Q Absolutely sure? A Absolutely sure. 

Q Well the Doctor went to the policestation? A IWO, 

sir. 

Q, About what time the next day? 

tell you that. He went the same day, 

(1 The same day? A Yes, sir. 

cOuld not 

Q After your dinner? A Well I don't know Whether it 

was right after. I. told you before I could not swear to. 

that. 

Q Did you see the Doctor and Louise go out that after*. 

noon? A He did not take ,Louise. Louise stayed at 4Onie. 

The Doctor went to the station house himself, and Sliest 

immediately afterwards the detective came to the house and 

questioned the child. 

Q Yes, ad then the detectives took the 'child muse A 

he did not. 

Q What did he do? A He arrested Mt. Monbrum. 

Q He arrested Mr. Mbnbrum? A Yes sir; and Chen we went 

to the station house-. 

Q Well, now, when for the first time did the Child go to 

the station house? A That day. 

Q That same day? 

MR. einormt Oh, I do not see how this is matenkl. 

It is a waste of time. 

• 



THE COURT: Weet to it then. 

MR. APPLETON: I object to i 

THE COURT: Yes, 

BY NR. HOCHFELDER: 

Q You were in the police court with the childt 

police court, yes. 

Q Was your husband there too? A Yes, sir. 

And that was on the 9th of Februarys, the next 411 

A Yes el r, the next day. 

Q And were you with the child subsequent? 

sir. 

Q And in the police court again? A Vitati4 

Q And how many visits did you and the child make, 

police court? A Twice. 

(1 The child was walking along the street in her'orditlat 

manner? A Yee, Sir. 

Nbw, Mrs. Williams, you have no illfeeling againat104 

Monbrum? A What? How could a thing lie that be 40n41 to 

my child and me mot have any illfeeling? 

Q Pardon me; I meant before you did not? A Not borest 

I did not. 

Have you ever had any feeling against UV. Mbribruld 

A No. 

Q Before the arrest and accusation? ' A NO. 



ta Flew long had you been living in that house? A WilOm 

Years. 

Q /tow long have you been living in that house? A 'Hi 

years. 

Q, And how long, to your knowledge, did mr. Monbrum 

in that house? A Oh, I could not tell you# 

(1, It was not eight years? A Th, indeed. 

MR. APPLETON: It was three months, / believe. 

q Did he ever visit your apartments, 

just came in the door. 

Q He never played a game of cards Or drahk anythin 

anything of that kind? A No, no. such thing. 

Q And sometimes you noticed the defeñdantupstairZ on 

the fourth floor? A Yes, sir. 

Q And your little girl was present sometimes? A Yes, 

sir. 

(I Did he ever embrace or take her up in his arms? A Oh, 

yes sir. 

yotu. rooms? A 

Q And he kissed her too, I believe? A I believe so. 

cl And you were very angry about that? A Yes, sir. 

ct And you told him to desist, or at least, you told him 

to stop it? A I told the child not to do it aslant not 

him. 

Q It was in your presence? A Yes, sir. 

Qp You were very angry about that, wersort you, A I was. 



did 
Q And . the defendant, Mozabittun disobey 

trolls about that? 

MR. APPLETON: Wow,. I object tha 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. 

Q Well, were you ever so awry that it caused 

threaten him, Mrs. Williams? A lot for that. 

Q That you would invoke the arm of the law? A NO-

that. 

Q That you would have him punished? A NOt for 

Q 'nu, made no threats of any- kind? A No, I did no 

Q That if he did not stop that, you would have 

rested? A I 

MR. APPLETON: Don't answer; 

THE COURT: Don't answer that. 

MR. 4TTJETONt it object to that. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained'. , 

Q In your presenae, MT. Monbrum frequently gave the 

child little tokens, little childish playthings? A Yee. 

Q You) never objected to that?. A No, I did not. 

Q And you allowed him to give them to the child? A Yes4. 

Q And she has them new, I suppose? A No, she hasn4t 

them sow. 

Q They are broken up, I suppose? A Yes sir; papaw 

things that he would bring home from work, he worked LU 



restauran 

Q Did he give them to hsr as often AV 

A NO, not as often as tha 

MR. HOCRITAIDER: That isail. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q I do not recall, Madame,what you te stifi 

girl going into the roam. Did you see her going -in 

roams of the defendant? A Yee sir. 

On that occasion? A Yee sir, 

MR. APPLETON: And did she see the defentan 

roam? 

Q And you saw the defendant ih the roam? 

Honor. 

MR. HOCTUPELDIM: May IL iirterj ec t a ques 

THE COURT: You nay. 

BY MR. HOCEFELDER: 

Q And that was when you returned from your shopping to 

is that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q And the door was open? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And the other little girl was playing on the floor? 

A Ehside. 

Q And ab you saw another little girl in there, you7 

ed Louise to go in? 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that as iroper 



eXaMiria ti 

THE COURT: Yes, we went all over, 

LSIDOR W L Et•S, oaiiéda 

behalf of the People, being duly- sworn, testified 

Iowa: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. APIILETON: 

• Q MY. Williams, yow are the father of Louise Itt 

the witness who testified yesterder A Yes, sir. 

Q And the husband of the woman who just left the v*xle 

stand? A Yes, sir. 

q You say you live at 132 Vest 28th Street 

of New York? A Yes, sir. 

Q On Which floor? A On the Fifth Floorlo 

q The fifth floor? A They call it the fifth 

it is four flights up. 

Q Four flights up? A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, on the 8th of February, 19091 were yOuva 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Had you been home for some time? A. Yes'sir; 

sick for about four or five days. 
hetweem 

Q And in the evening/six and eight o'clock Where *or 

you? A I was sitting in the Morris chair LIM ttOrit r 

(1, Did your little child Louise come upstairs to yeigs. 

A Yes, sir. 



'`±rr.:• 

Can you. tell about what time—i-

A It must have been be tween seven an 

exactly. 

Q Were you still in the front room? A 

Ct Speak loud enough so that the twelfth JUT. 

you, louder? A All right, 

Q. Was your child walking or running when she came 

your roam? A She cane running in. 

Will you please state wheyoulobServed as to Vie 

sical and mental condition of thechild when she came 

your room? A She came running in. 

Q Will you please state at youl observed as to the 

sical and mental condition of the child at that time? 

give any conclusions, but give what you observed, what Via 

there about her that made any impression on your mind, if 

anything? A I obseTved that she was excited and 

up. 

MR. HOCHFELDER: I object to that. 

TEE COURT: Strike it out. You must tell how she 

appeared to be and what she did, 

A She was very pale and cried. 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q What? A She was very pale when die came in and cried. 

Q, She was very pale and cried? A Yes, sir. 



cp, And she was running to you? 

A Did she say something to you? 

'"Papa what do yo U think Monsieur.ltbsbrum,did 

Q And then did she tell you What Mr. )110Artnit, 

her? A Yes, sir. 

Q What was heir condition then, was she still 

A Well, she was still crying, but she stopped when 

ed to tell the story. 

Q And thend id anyliody c ome in right then? 

came in right then, 

cr Did the child then tell her what she had fares, 

told you?. A No, the child told me. 

; But after the child told you, did she again tei 

to your. wife? A Yes sir; she tells the story twice over. 

Q And what occurred after the child told the sto# 

your wife? A ITY wife she did not know what to d41): 

went out and fixed up the supper and I wanted to eta*, 

eat, but i could not eat. 

Was the child there? A The child was there* 

Q Did the child eat? A NP, S4e did net. eat 

Q Did she way why she could not eat? A Tea $i 

said she could mot eat. 

Q And then what happened? A Then she men and'3414 

side on the bed in the next room. 



QH.."PUr child went and laid On the bed Weide 

roam'', A 'Tea; sir. 

(I And then that happened? A A little While aft0 

heard Mr. Mbnbrumls voice on the stairs,.. 

Q This defendant at the bar? A Yes, sir. 

And then what occurred When you 'heard-Mr. Mbtbrile 

voice on thestairs? A tput a big blanket over me 0120 !rent 

out into the hall and leaned, over the:banittews and called 

him to come up? Q. Did Mr. Monbruk colme Vp? A He Came 

up; yes sir. 

Q Wow, I want you, from that: time When gr. Menbrum was 

in your rooms, and in his presence-, : to state Wthe Moat 

minute detail everything that was said bylirr:-.:Wonbrum and -

everything that was said by you, And if anybody Olop sa*4 

anything to Mr. Monbrum in your pretence, :state what that 

other person said, and what Mr. Menbrum replied. M:want it 

in the most minute detail, in a loud tome. A When Mr. VOna, 

bruin came in _I said to him, "Mr. MOnbrum, I am very Much' 

surprised. Are you able to do a thing like that, thatmr 

little girl accuses your of doing?" He says, "What is it"? 

I says, "She accuses you of assaulting her and abusing her." 

He got kind of shaky. 

MR. HOCIEFELDER: your HOnor, I Object ‘t0 .tha t and 

move that it be stricken out. 

THE COURT: Let it go. What was his answer? 



THE WITNESS: His answer was, "'Why") 

would not be able to do a thing like that 

him, "Mr. Monbrums I am going to look into 

3ror dear" iTr, -French. 

BY 1.4.1i. APPLETON: 

Q, You spoke in French? A Yes sir. 

Q Was .youi child pent? A NVhen he said he di 

do it I- called my child and said, "Louise, what did 

mOnbrum do to :crou/" So she said, Yes, vr. Monbrumi, 

took off my drawers and put your thing into my thing-an 

your dirty tongue in my mouth," and then she started to *X 

again; 

Q, What did the defendant do when- she 

did not say anything but turned and walk 

friends in the front -part of the houses  

Q, He did not say anything but turned around and via 

away? A Yes, sir. 

11R. HOCHRELDER: No sir; he did not say that, 

T  741 r.! T : Yes, the re'o or d s stands. 

CROSS EXALTI7ATI 01T TT HOCEYBLDBR: 

Q. 

d away to 

Now, when you accused him, what did he say? A Ite 

said he was not able to think that he could do a thing like 

that. 

He denied it, d idn t he? A He dended it.; yes sir. 

Tow, r. l'agel,has been doctoring you for some time, : 
has he not? A Yes, sir. 

0 Ane he is your 7odr:e Doctor? A He is my lodge 
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-TM tor. 

q And on the evening your wife had .her 

No, She did not sat. 

Q, And the child had its .supper? 

either, 

Q, And you did not eat either/ 

I could not finish it. 

(I You were sick? A I was sick, .1 

Q That was the matter., tonsilitis? 

grippe. 

Q You could /mot swallow/ 

eating after I heard that story.' 

C?: Wow, just about What time did Mrs. Willems este 

the evening of February 8th, after hearing this story) 

must have been about half past six, r cannOt tell ezactl 

what time it was. 

Q Did you hear Mrs. trilleems call :for Louise doWnstaire• , 

A Yes, sir. 

Q That was just about the time your wife had supper On 

the tahlsR A Yes sir, it was While she VMS getting the  

dinner. 

Q, That was about half past seven? A It was half past 

six or a quarter to seven. I could not tell exactly the  

I• was sick and did not pay very much, attention to it 

Q It was about a quarter past seven? A It nmly'halta 



been seven, and it may have been a quarter past 

Q Now, when Dr. Nagelialhat was on the 9th o 

was, it not? A February the 9th, yes sir. 

Q And  did you tell Dr. Nagel that you did not 'Want to 

make any complaint against the defendant? A I did set, 

Q Did you tell Dr. Nagel to make a ,complaint in this 

case? A I asked Dr. Nagel what he should think, I dhaUld 

do about it. 

Q Yes. A And Dr. Nagel used this expression, "Hive 

that monster -arrested right away." 

Q He said "Have that monster arrested right aWAW 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And  then you proceeded to do something? A Yes, sir. 

I called my wife, and said, "You dress Yourself, ge, 

go to the Thirtieth Street station house", and Dr. Nagel 

said to my wife, "Don't bother I will go* there myself." 

Q Was that on the 9th of February/ A That *as on the 

9th of February, 

qp, About four o"clock or two o'clock? A Yes sir; be-
half past 

tween/three and four. 

(1, About that time? A Yes, sir. 

t And then samebody-else visited the house.. A Yes, 

Q And arrested Mr. Monbrum? A The detective came about 

twenty minutes or half an hour afterwards. 



Monbrum was arrested and the oblld Zoilaelis the 

when he was arrested? A NA was arrested 

CI Was he arrested in his hoUsef A NV be 

across the way where he boarded. 

(4, You mean where he got his meals? A Tbs s 

boarded with these people across the way, 

q Of course Mr. Monbrum had a room in your louse, 

people that lived there had a flat in the same house-. 

(I Do you know how many- rooms he had, one or two? 

I could not say. 

Q Well, on the 9th of February did you see the WTI 

Mr. Monbrum Who is now in court? A YeS, sir. 

q And he came to see you? A He came to see me, 

What did he ask about his father/ A He stated se 

why I had hAs father arrested, Why I had him arrested, 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that, 

MR. HOCHFELDER: I think that the witness should be 

allowed to reply. 

MR. APPLETON: I will withdraw the objection if you 

are trying to lay a foundation there for something? 

MR. HOCHFELDKR: I always try to lay a foundation for 

something. There is a reason. 

BY MR. HOCEPELDER: 

Now, Mr. Willems, you had a conversation with the son 



Of MOnbrum, did you? A I did. 

And  did you teU him, "Why, I did not want the 

arrested," the father arrested? A did, yes  

Q Now 01116•10 

THE COURT: Continue,, your full ansWer. 

THE WITNESS': I told him I did not want to bay 

• arrested right away because I; knew him, I had been working . 

with him for three years and' I did !u)t want to do anything 

too hasty, before I* was sure. 

BY MR. HOCHFELDER: 

Q Did you say that you were sorry that „,he vras a.r• 

rested? A I did not. 

Q What did you say about that arrest? 

that ••••• 

MR. APPLETON: , What the man said stbout the arrest? 

MR. HOCRFELDMI: To /Qtr. Monbrum? 

MR •.APPT.F,TON: Why, I objec t to that. 

THE t1COURT: I sustain the objection. 

BY MR. HOCHPELDER: 

Q Did you say that you were very sorry that he was ars. 

rested, and that you would like to have avoided it in someway-

MR APPLETON: Don't answer that. 

THE WITNESS: No, I did not. 

THE COURT: That will do now  Objection sustained* 

r. 



• 
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.- strike out the answer.. 

Q Mr, Willem, you had been treated by Dr, Nagel 

had rill. you, before this? 

APPLETON: Don't answex I object to Vila 

s immaterial whether he has or not,. 

.tE COda: What is 'the question StenogtailheeV 

(Question real by S te nOgr Wier) - 

THE COURT: Yes, objection sustained, 

Q How long have you known Dr. Nagel? A lUhave IMMO 

him for about nine years,btiotase he is the Doc tor of ray 

Society. 

THE COURT: That is all. DOn'tOunteeranytntb 

ma t i on. 

MR. /10011:FELDER: That is all. 

MR. APPLETON: That is all your Honor. The people 

rest.. 

THE PEOPLE REST 

rer air 
MR. HOCHFELDER: IL will the child, Louise, 

MR APPLETON: I do not see why the child should be 

recalled. She was put through a long cross examination 

yesterday. 

THE COURT: We will hear the evidence. We will hear• 

the que s tions That is your obj crt? 

• 



,T74,4ft-slA 

113/ HOCIDISLIZR: Just to ask a few qUestiinus 

consider important, and I assure your Hein:4' that if I 

not deem them Important, L would not burden this C 

the .Tury with it. 

L 0 Ur ISE WILLEMS recalled:1 

Rtig.MROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. HOCH:FIELDER: (Continued.) 

tri), Louifie, when Mr, Mon:bruit put his thing into 

thing, you knew that was wrong, didn't you? 

MR. XPPLETON: pow! t answer? 

ME WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

'THE COURT: Overruled, question allowed... 

Q Your Mama called you, Louise, on that day 

noon, to came up twice, d id • she? 

MR.. APPLETON: I object to that, it Was all gone 

an-c rose examination-. 

THE COURT: Obj eat ion sustained, 

MR. HOCHFELDER; There is just one question that 

I want to ask. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained as to that  question, 

Q Louise, if' Mama had not caLle4 you --- one moment, 

Mr. Appleton. Don4t place your hand on the child's 

face until I am through with the question: 

THE COURT: Don't you answer any qmestions until Mr. 



Apple ton' ollij ec ts or 

that? 

te3.1 Jou to answer. Y 

THE WITNESS: yes, sir. 

Q, Now., Louise, if Mama " had not called you 

she ca lied yOu twice I traders fond I 

MR. APPTIP,TON: Don' t answer. 

Would you have remained in- Mr. Monbrun room 

tle wThile longer, or any length .of time? 

MR. APPLETON: I obLect to that 1. 

THE COURT: Obj e at ion sus ta don' t 

Louise, 7.ou went up to Mama. Mr Apple ton, May I:. 

respec tfully ask you to d es is t from those motions to the , 

child -- you would have stayed there wouldn't 

UM COURT: Wha t is the que tic& 

(10,uest !Orr read by Stenographer) 

THE COURT: Objection su ta inec1.3. 

1P. TIOCTIFELDER: May I have an exCeP t on? ' 

THE OTTRT : Yes. There has be en no new clues tiCrt 

asked since this child carne i'n to the room. 

Q, Louise ltr. Monbrun took you and put you on the bed? 

TT APPLETON: I object, sir 

,P.1"71. 

qu es ti On. 

objec ti on sUs t ine cl". There is nyo new 

TT. HOCJDIELDER: If your  Honor will entertain me, 
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have several motions to make?* 

THE COURT: You may make them. 

MR. HOCJIPELDER: I re spec tfully ask that your B. 

dismiss the indictment because of the following grOUndt 

• First, that the rule of evidence is plain concerning 

a proposition of law, and it is this,. that When a perse 

conduct is un issuer, is deemed relevant to the issue, 

statements made in his presence and hearing  by, which his 

conduct is likely to have been affected,: are damned i 

relevant if the person be incapable of hearing or under., 

standing the statements, , Omagh these are made in lUe 

presence. This has been decided in the case of 

Second, that evidence of the particulars or detlalt 

of the complaint are held not to be admissible; People 

vs. O'Sullivan, 104 N. Y. 4811 and Bleach vs.'People,, 

41 N. Y. 265. That evidence is not deemed as corrbbara. 

tive, or res gestae, or as evidence of the truth Of 

things alleged, or sdtely- for the purpose of disprevteg 

acts, but for the more general purpose of conforming with 

the testimony of the ravished girl. 

Lask your Honor to dismiss this indictment because of' 

thn fact that under Section 392 of the Code-, a childr* 

testimony must be supported by other evidence; and beeline* 

of the fact that the evidence that has been adduced clearly 



shows that it is mot legal evidence.-

tain that it cannot be supportable earidem 

fore there is no evidence. 

I ask your Horror to dismiss on tile further' 

that under Sect ion 283 , that no conviction. c• an 

abduction , compulsory marriage rape or dirrilemeg 

the testimony of the female defiled', compelled or 

ed, unsupported by other evidence, and if there be 400, 

legal evidence therecannot be other evidence, and ther 

fore this complaint stands unsupported by proper 3.0 

evidence. 

MR. APPLETON: Shall I reply?, 

THE COURT: Just a moment, he has not finishe 

MR. HOCKFELDER: I ask your Honor upon the nark 

grounds to dismiss, that where the facts this case 

any other case are not disputed, your Honor' bas.: 

discretion or power to take ' away from the consider-BM* 

of the Iury any count mentioned in the indictment* and 

your Honor has a right to dismiss the indictment where 

there is no other testimony, .kid inasmuch as there isn't  

Er y other and no corroborative testimony, there cannot 

be a conviction,. It is solely upon the statement13 123A41S 

by the child to another persom, to Whom she wou14 4011.*: 

ally complain but that alone is not corroborative that 

the crime was committed, but simply corrobonatiOn ot tUt 



Oomploint made by the child to 

she might naturally complaint a 
to the Us,* 

vant 6 timatir as admissible that 

bora ti on of the complaint, itrittxii* •thai ipso 

corroboration of the crime, roOr that the detend 

mi t ted the crime, and., theref or e , the defendat is 

titled to a reasonable doubt; • and your lioni0r, 

power', I respectfully submit, to take the case away 

the Jury. 

Tha t is all, if the Court please.  

THE COURT: Motion denied 

HOCTIFELDER : Will your Rom= give me an e 

t ion to each of 'those"' 

THE COURT: Yes. 

the defendant. 

DEFENSE'S TESTIIEONT 

EDW A RD MO "11 B H U M, called as a witness in behali 

of the defendan t, be ing duly- sworn , tee tif Led as followtre: 

through, Mr. O'Hare as terpre ter: 



4 
(Stephen O'Hare was duly triff 

INIOTEXAMINATION BY Et• HOMMEL 

Q Where did you live on February 8Vil 

28th Street. 

iT How old are you Mr. Mftbruna A 54 years' 

Q And how long have you lived there? A A very 'ii 

While, three months. 

Q Where were you enployed while in the City? 

Cafe Martin. 

Q And are you still one of the employes of that Cafe 

A I am still employed there., 

How long have you been in the employ Of M. Martin? 

A Seven years. 

And. how long are you in this country/ A Seven 

and a half. 

Q Are you the father of any children? A Ilan the fa 

of children. 

How many, Mr. Monbrum? A One. 

Q Is this your son (indicating)? A He is my Ben, 

Q Is your son married too? 

MR. APPLETON: t objewt. It is immaterial whother 

the On is married or not. 

THE COURT: Yes, objection sustained. 

N'owl.do you know the little girl, Louise 'Mame, 

has testified? A I have known her in the house fro ittioli• 



she lives, fr om, the floor above. 

Q, And on which floor do you live in that 

the third floor. 

Q, And do you know where she lives? A The ro 

I. APPLETON: That is three- flights UP. 

Q, Well, she lives on the fourth, Is that nearer 
lives 

roof of the house? A She/next floor to the roof. 

Q. How many rooms do you keep or occupy in that 

A There are four rooms. 

•Q, But how many are for your own use how man 

cupy? A I had one room alone for my own use 

Q, Now, on the 8th of February, last,was Loreto 

room about -- It don, t know the time, I will -ask yOtt‘ 

time? A Tot until the day in question when she 

Q, NM; was the door of .your room open or shut? 

was open. 

What time was it? A It was about a quarter 11 

or half past six in the afternoon, in.. *ieevening. 

Q Was there another little girl in your room about 

time, half past six? A Notin my TOODI at that time.* Ut. 

she was in the corridor, in th.e 

Q, Tow; did you see the mother go upstairs about hear p 

six or a quarter after six on that day, the mother of 100 

A No. 

Q, Well, did :-ou see Lotrise about a quarter after six? 



Q Where did you see her, Monbrum? 

came upstairs. She came upstairs I. saw. 

She joined the other little girl in 

that I a aw them, 

Q, Did you see the little girl and L 

A They went upstairs to their mothers' a.partmetts. 

Q Did Louise come into your 

the threshold of the door, but .zro fu:rther. 

Q And did • you see her go away with the other litt 

A They both went upstairs, without delay to the To. 

the mother of one of them . 

Q, Now, did rou see them after that 

after six, any time between a quarter after 

came r • 

O'clock anywhere? A I did not see them *Mit th& 

Q Mew, where did you go, Mr. MonbrUm, atteaqu 

after six, after you saw this girl? A About halt pas 

I went upstairs  to Madame Giordano '3 apartment. 

Q And how long did you stay there? A' One minute,. 

Q, And where did you go after that time? A At the; 

time a gentlemen named Mr. Willem called me. 

THE COTTRT: Mr. O'Hare, so that there may be no 

trouble about the interpretation of all this, Mr liVii).04.'s 

is the father of the complaining witness. 

DM WITNESS: Mr. Willem called me at that Use 



7er:" ^?,,P,fr,j7Ers, 

• Now, you stayed there about a minute at It or 

house? A I remained at Mr. Giordano's apartment. 

Q Now, did you go downstairs after that? 

MR. APPLETON: Now, just a. inu e. If your rpnOr 

please, it seams to me it would be better to ask what 

happened and what he did at that time instead of leading 

now. 

MB. HOCHFELDER: Now I am going to ask, M. Apple 

where he did go. 

Q  Where did you go after that? 

MR, APPLETON: I Object to that. 

Wekl„ did 30U go downstairs? A I went dOwnstairt to 

go to 117 West 28th Street 

Q And What is that, what is there conducted there? 

A There is where I take my dinner in the evening. 

Ahd after you -- before you went upstairs for a minute 

did you close your room? A Before I went upstairs to Mrs. 

Giordano's I closed my door. I locked and closed Tily room. 

Did you lock anyone in there? A There was MD one 

within. 

Q What did you do at this place on 28th Street, across 

the street isn't it? A It is across the street. -I went 

there to dine. 

Q, And about what time did they have dinner? 



TIOCluiLDER: I ask that that other question be 

wi thdtavn. 

TIT, COURT ; Yes . 

BY MR HOCIFELDER; 

Q What time did you dine there that -night? A At 8evefl 

orciock., and that is the dinner hour. 

0, That is the regular dinner hour? Did you dine With ar 

-par ticular..people there, or with anyone? A The proprietor 

of the establishment and several freinds were there -dining 

the same time. 

Q, Do you know the name of the proprietor and also 0 

those friends? A John Maisonable, is the none of the', 

proprietor . 

Q And what are the names of the friends" A Mr . Mitt% 

Mr. Ezac. There were several others whose names I do n-ot In* 

recall. 

Now, before you dined, had your dinner, what did you do 

in that place? A We played a game of billiards with Mr. 

Dustin. 

10.. APPLETON': Nb. I did not ask that. 



,,:•01•71111111!!,, -

BY MR. HOCHFELD 

Now, hw long did you renain in that place? A 'Until 

about half past nine. 

Q Until about half past eight? 

MR. APPT:PITON: I obitect to that as .leading. 

THE COURT: Yes, 

BY R. HOCHFELDER: 

Q And at that hour what did You do and where did you go? 

A I went home to sleep. 

Q Did you see any one of the family Of Willem when you 

returned that night? A I saw nobody of that family that 

night. 

Q bid anyone accuse you of having put your 

the little girl's private parts on that night, 

whoaccused you? A No, not that wgr. 

Q Well, you went up Madame Giordano's room? A Yost 

sir. 

0 And someone called you. Will you.kindly tell me Who 

it was? That is, before you went to the restaurant? 

HR. APPLIITON: i object to that, sir. He has already--

The objection is he asked one question, which, of course,. 

was objectionable. I did not object to it and the. witness 

gave his answer. NA now asks a leading question. At all 

times I have been willing ant ready to have this witnessr/ 
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testify to What happened, certainl 

his being led. 

MR. HOLDER: Mr. Appleton 

MR. APPLETON: I did mot address counsel 

trust the Court 11001. 

THE C OURT : I will allow the question. 

THE WITSM Mr. 111111am. 

Q, And what did he say to you? A He told me that 

had embraced or caressed his daughter. 

girl? 

I ask you whe9ther he adked you whether yOU, kissed the 

MR. APPLETON: Now, wait. I object 

was said? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

THE WITNESS: He told MA that his daughter complalim 

ed to him that I had embraced her. I told him that I. 

h ad io t. That w as ab-ou t all. And at once I left.. 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q At once who left? A I left, and at ter that! went 

to dinner-. 

BY MR. HOC }I:FELDER : 

After you left mr. Willams, did you go into the lady's 

room, the lady's house, Madame Giordano, or did you then go 

away to the restaurant? A Yes, I went to the lady's rocistlit 

" 



And 'then You left? 

(1 /lbw, did MT. Willem 

Yes sit; tfteiX 

you, Mr 

look into this matter, .You,had better be caret 

find out," or some such conversation? 

MR. APPLETON: Oh, I object to that. 

THE COURT: Objection sustaine 

(I Did he make any threats to you, Mr. Monbfte 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that. ihat-did 

sir, or use the exact words of the witneSs: 

THE COURT: Yes, objection. sustained, as to 

of the question. 

BY MR. HOCHFELDER: 

Q What did he say to you, Mr. Monbrum, did he mak 

statement, that you embraced the girl? A Be said mOthin 

to me whatever. 

(At this point Mr. °Mare wap relieved by Ofiloitt 

Dnterpreter DeVille.) 

Wow, did you ever take the little girls drawers off 

your roam, or any place? 

THE COURT: That is not the question in the evid 

as I remember it. 

MR. HOCKEKLDER: That he took the drawers off, if 

your Honor plecise. 

THE C OURT: That he unbuttoned the drawers, as 

und ers t ood it. 



HOCIVELDER: I thank your HOnor. 

tion. 

THE WITITESS: .1 did mot. 

BY VER. HOCITELDER: 

Q, Did you put this child on the bed in your room 

did mot. 

Q Did you put yourprivate parts into that litt1e g 

private parts? A I did sot. 

Q, Did you lie on top of her? • A No. 

Q Did she lay on top of you? A No, she was mot on top 

of me. 

Q Did you 'have your face to her face upon the bed?. 

Q Did you see her, lying upon your abdomen, upon you in 

your room? A She was not. 

Q, Did you lie on the bed this way, for instance, (indi--

catine on your back? A Not at all. 

Q, Did she lie upon her .back upon your bed? A She did 

mot. 

Q** Was there any little girl playing in your room when 

this little girl Louise was standing on your thresh:Old? 

A Not in the room. She was in the hall playing. 

Q Was there any girl playing in your room when Louise 

was standing on the threshold? A There WELES mobOdy inside 

the room, but there was the little girl in the hail. 
Q. Did you put your tongue into the girl's mouth? A 



did no 

Did you take your private male organ Ara. 

hands of this girl? A TO. 

Q When , for the first time, were you apprised 

you were charged with the crime of having placed yos. 

parts into the. private parts of the girl? 

MR. APPLETON: mw, just a moment. 'Your Honor• 

testimony here is that the father accused him of assiu 

the child. Vow; he has testified what the father said at 

the time. 

THE COURT: Yes, objection sustained. 

BY MR. HOCHFRLDER: 

Wheh were you apprised that you had committed 

sault on this girl? 

MR. APP7TON: I object to that,: sir. 

Q, When, for the first time, were you apprised 

had committed an assault on this girl? 

MI. APPLETON: I object to that. He has told what. 

the conversation was between the father and himself. 

is for the j ury to say whether }or not that was a charge Of 

assault upon the girl. If should say that if anybody had 

kissed my girl in that way, id embraced my girl in .that 

way, he had committed an assault 

MR. TIOCH104.1LDER: May it please the court he i.e only, 

wasting time. 



MR. APPiETOIT: Thank you. I objeCtid. 

"'assault". It is a conclusion. 

HOCHFELDER: I ask for your TrOnOr s 

that. 

THE COURT: You-may ask when for the first 

was charged  with anything against this girl, 

HOCITELDER: - Will you ask him that questiO 

(Question put by interpreter) 

THE WITNESS: On the 8th, 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, At what time? 

at the moment when I was going out. 

BY MR. HOCHFELDER: 

Q That was when you were leaving Madame GiOrdan0148 

room? 

MR. APPLETION: I object to that. He has outl 

to the Tury when that was. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained3. 

BY MR. HOMFELDER: 

Q And after that were you arrested? A On the Tuesday, 

yes. 

Q AtLout what time? A Four o'clock in the afternoon  

Q, Now, Mr. Monbruir, were you ever convicted of any crime, 

anywhere in this country or vranc.e? A Never. 

Q Were you ever arrested for any crime other than this 
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crime? ,‘A Never. 

Q, Now, Mr. Monbrum, did you ever stand on 

floor and look into -your room while thedoor Was 

MR. APPL'ETON: I object to that as immater 

THE COURT: objeetfon sustained'. 

MR. HOCHFELDER: That is all, if your HOmor p 

CROSSEXAMINATION BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q, The child, Louise, came upstairs • an stopped at yOur-

door I did she not? A She did come. up, but she, stopped tO 

look at the child that was playing in the hail. 
Q Oh, I understood that was yOur stateMen 

you answer my question? 

MR. HOCHFM,DER: May I ask your Honor reot t 

Mr. Appletoni to couch his language/such terms ae 

an impression to thejury that ihe.is tot telling the 

I ask your Honor to Lnstruct Mr. ApPietonlmotto 

. APPLETON:, Will you read the question? 

(last two que s tions and answer read by the StenOtgr 

er.) 

THE WITNESS: She came up and stopped in, the 

when she saw the child. She stopped and played With 11=4: 

Q, Always playing with the child in the hall on that 

occasion? 

MR. HOCHFELDER: I sk. your Honor to allow that 
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'question to be divided,"Always playing with 

in the hall on that oocasion2" 

1MR. APPLETON: You, are getting mOs 

MR. HOCHFELDER: Will your Honor ask 

to divide that questibrif? 

THE COURT: Continue, TIrr• APPletoi4 

MR. APPLETON: Repeat the question mr • Staher 

(Quistion read by Stenographer) 

THE WITNESS: Yee. 

BY MR. NPPLETCN: 

Q She did not go into your room at all? A On the

threshold of the door. 

Q She came to the thre,lto14 of the door? A Yes sire 

Q Did you speak to the child, Louise, then? A I oba 

her away from the room because  I was going away at that 

moment. 

Q Were you alone in your roam? A Alone. 

Q And the door between your room mid the apartments of 

your landlord were locked, or was locked, was it not? A Yes 

sir; locked. 

Q And there was no one else in the room but yourself, 

while you were there?. that night, was there? A That is 

right. 

Wow, didre t --, bring -Ida Giordiano into court pleas, 



(Ida GiOrdiano brongh into the aour 

Q While you were down in your room, and 'Oh 

children were on the same floor -- we will put it 

didn't Mrs. Willem call ,her child Louise? A ro, 

Q And when Mrs. Willem called her child, LO 

you not tell this child, Ida Giordano, to tell toniD 

that MOnsieur Monbrum says that she. would be up in 

A No, no. 

Q, And didn't this child, Ida Giordano, go out intO the 

hall and call up to Mrs. Willem and say, "Mrs. Willem, VE 

sieur Monbrum says ret Louise stay a few minutes. 

will be up in a few minutes." 

MR. HOCHFELDER: One moment, before you answer tat. 

I ask that that answer be stricken out. It is not binding 

on the part of the defendant what this child said. 

MR. APPLETON: I asked him if he did not hear he  

state that. 

MR. HOCHFELDER: I ask for the same ruling, whether 

he heard it or not. 

THE WITNESS: No. 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q You understand this little girl's name is Ida GiordanO„ 

do you not? A Yes sir, Ida Gregorio is the right name. 

• She is known as Ida Giordano? A It may be but that 

Giordano is riot her father. 
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But Giordano is the family that you we 

This child is a child by her fi; a. 

why I said that the name is Gregorio. 

Q That is what I wanted to get at. She lives Vow With 

her mother who has married a man by the name Of G* 

Yes, sir. 

And dhe is now known as Ida Giordano_ 

So that when I called the child Ida GiordahOr 

knew to whom I referred, did you not? A Yost si 

Q Now, did you put your private parts into -the- pr 

parts of Ida Giordano, the same as you did the other 

Louise? 

MR. HOCITELDEk: I object to that and ask that 

be stricken out. 

THT COURT: Objection sustained]. 

MR. APPLETON: On cross examination as 

of credibility? 

THE COURT: You are_referring to the 

MR. NPPLETON: I am referring to this little gi 

Ida Giordano, only. 

THE COURT: Question allowed. 

HOCHFELDER: Will your Honor give me ma eXceptiO 

THE COURT: Yes. 

IRE WITNESS: It is Impossible no. 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q Did you not do it the same day you did it to Laid 



Q t the Doctor examine, Ida tiOld#O, the 113 

did Louise Willem?, 

. HOCHFELDER: I obj sot to that: 

THE COURT: objection sustained-i„ 

. APPLETON: If you obj e c t to tha t 

it. 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q So you did not hear Mrs. Willem call to LOUise 

time, aftSeId a had' spoken to Mrs. Willem? A 014, 

Q You did not hear any of that? A NO 

Q But just a few moments after t)rie child moliise 

gpstairs, you went upstairs .did you not? 

came in the hall I was ready to go out, and I wanted 

Q Oh, of course i know that, I remember your 

MR. HOCHEELDER: Wait a moment, I Objeet. 

THE COURT: Now, Mr. Appleton that is not neaaaa 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

You also testified on your direct Eaamination that the 

children went upstairs, did you not? 

MR. HOCHFELDER: One moment please, do not ana er 

that. He did not testify that they went upstairs. Be 

said they went somewhere,. 

1!R. APPLE TON: The j ury r em ember it that he a 

the children went upstairs. 



THE COURT' He has a right to ask Whete. 

he knows. 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q Now, after the children went ups talr s you wen 

did you not? A Yes, sir. 

sir. 

And then Mr. Willen called you, did he mit? 

And he then charged you with doing 

chuld, did he not? A Perfectly. 

MR. APPLETON: That is all; 

MR. HOCIEFELDER: May I ask a question npw Or 0101, 

_ wait? 
•APPEETON;. There is one other questi 

THE COURT: COntinue, 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q You 

did you? A Not that I kn-ow, of. 

Q You knew of the husband, Mr. Willem? 

never had any trouble with:Mrs, Wlaiem before t 

.Yes 0141; )10 

.had worked at One time in-Martinl's. I knew him.' 

Q You were on good terms with him, were you not? .A 

ordinary common relations. 

Q And you had never had any trouble with him befo 

occasion? A NO, 

Q He never accused you of doing anything to his child. 

before that might, did he? A No. 

Q, That was the first time he ever charged. you 
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bothering his child) was it not? A Certainly.. 

On that occasion? A But I said to him, 

not true," and this charge It is not true. 

I know you said it was not true but you were trdendl 

before that? A I was pot friendly. I was not an ellefte 

either, We were, ordinary common acquaintances. 

Q Can you give any reason thy Mr. and Mrs. Inliettt 

would charge you. with this crime? 

MR. TIOCHFELIIRR: One unament. May it please  your Ronbr 

II object to that question. 

THE COURT,: Objection overruled!. 

THE WITNESS: I have no reason to give, I do 

know why they a ccused me of that. 

TER. APPLETON: That is all. 

MR. HOCITELDER: Mb other quest ions. 

THE COURT: Just a moment, is that all Mr. Apple... 

ton? 

APPUITON: Yes, your Honor. 

BY THE C OURT: 

Now, in what language did ltr, Willem talk to you when 

you went upstairs on that occasion? A I did not go up, 

went up on their floor and then they talked to me. 

Yes, I wild ere tand , in that longue ge d id they talk? 

A In French. 

Q, Did you see the little girl at all when you were up 



there in Mr. Willem's rooms? A I saw her when 

opened the door to call me. 

(1 Yes, that is to say when you went upeteiTS in 

to yr. Willem's call, did you see the little girl up-

in Mr. Willem's apartment? A I saw the child in tfte 

kitchen at the moment Mr.  Willem had the door open talking: -

to MB. 

And Mr. Willem talked to.you? A. Yea, air. 

Q And who else was there when Mr. Wilheni was talking 

any time? A It was about half past si24 I only perceived 

a man seated in the kitchen of Willem's apartments. 1 

might be able to recognize him if. I saw him again. 

(1, Did the little girl say anything in your hearing after 

Mr. Willem called you upstairs? A While I -was telling the 

father that I had not done anything of the sort, the child 

says) "Yes, it is true." And then I answered, "You know it 

is not true." 

Q The child said what was true? A That I had embraced 

her) or kissed her. 

Q Yes, certainly. Now, what was the language, What word 

in the French language did the father use When he accused you 

of any iimpropriety with his daughter) what word did heLuse? 

A I cannot hardly recollect the exact words, your Honori 

that his child 

• Q The exact words? A Embrace. 



stale 

TRH COURT: Now, the correct and exact word *lc 

used was? 

THE INTERPRETER: "Embrasser,1kiss. 

THE COURT: Now, wait a moment. I want to 

what the word "embrasser" meant to him? 

THEIVITNESS: Kiss. 

THE COURT: The Interpreter will state what are or 

what is the meaning of the word "embrasser in Pram*, 

which word he says the father used, and whether it hae.mOre 

than one meaning. 

THE INTERPRETER: It has several meanings Your Honor. 

"Embrassern means to place the arm around the person's 

neck or body and hugging, or squeezing the person. That 

is called "embrassee. ""embrasser" means also "kiss", in' 

the ordinary speech, it is a figurativw:speenh. 

HOCHPELDEa: Interpreted for "kise". 

THE COURT: Has it any evil signification? 

THE ENTERPRETER: No sir; there is another 

word that has an evil signification. 

THE COURT: I know, but be ndt the word "embrae-

see sometimes used to illdicate an iMproper thing? 

THE INT2aFRETER: Never, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Now, wait a minute. I want to know 

his exact answer to the father., in the exact words he used  

THE WITNESS: I told him I had not done a thing 



similar to the one he accused -me or. 
THE COURT: similar to *hat one thin 

you of? 

THEWITHESS: To have, caressed his child,. 

Now then, did you say that it was impossibie. 

to do the Ching that you were charged with doin 

said, "Yes, I was incapable of such a thing," and tOit 

left. 

Q Did you say that it *as impossfble for you tO do 

thing, that ,y01.1 were itrapable of doing it? We want to 14/11:Mv 

just what word you used in French? What word did you use A' 

French? A That I was incapable, 

Q Of doitg the thing that he charged you with 

fectly well. 

(4, Had you ever kissed that little girl in your lire be 

fore? A Never. She never came into the roam, or near 

the room. This was the first time*, 

Q Well, any place at all, did you ever kiss her any place 

at all? A I never frequented them.. I never was in their 

company, and I never saw them. Sometimes I would meet them . 

in the hall. 

ct When thelittle girl charged you with the itproprittn 

or whatever it was, just what did the little girl say? 1114 

she speak in French of not? A I was not there when she, 

spoke to her father. 
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Q I know, but I • 
.0 

She said, "Yes, At is true." 

Q What -IF as true again? A That Whidh she .had 

told her father.. 

THE COURT: Yes, that is all. 

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY M.. HOCHI4LDER: 

Mr. Monbrum, when you stated to ltr. Willem that i 

tapossible for you to do such a thing --

MR. APPLETONIt He did not say that. 

• 

'The child also 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. The word aCcording 

to the witness, which was used Was that 110 ,Wa0 Jima:WAR. 

MR. HOCHFE  DER: Incapable? 

THE COURT: Yes. . 

Q When you stated that 37-01.17 incapable of .doing such a 

thing to Which question did you make that reply? 

MR. KETTJETON: I object. • It has all been 4;One over' 

in cross examination and in direct examinatiOn and it is 

improper re -direct examination. 

MR. HOCITELDER: I thought that your Honor wanted to 

bring that out, that your Honor was very painstaking on 

that. 

THE COURT: Yes, I think that has ail' been gone 

over,but I think I will allow it again. 

(question read by Stenographer) 

THE WITNESS: That was in answer to the query put by. 



the fatherthat I had taen AditAntage of the'gtilii-

104 embraced her, or 4ssed her, 

MR. APPLETON: might I 40kHths.interpreter if he 

ihterpreted the exact Words that the defendant Used in 

Ms answer to that question? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR.. APPLETON: Did you give the exact interpretatiW 

of the last answer of the witness to you? 

THE INTERPRETER: Yes, :sir. 

MR. APPLETON; The exact interpretatiOn of it?. 

THE INTERPRETER: Yes.. 

THE COURT: Give me the exact '.101guage:ht used to you 

in French. 

THE INTERPRETER: Give me the English Of it.' am T 

machine, your Honor. 

YR. APPLETON: No, repeat the question to him.. 

(At this point the Court, Witness and Interpreter 

conversed in French.) 

THE COURT: The answer, as I take it, is correct 

"Having taken advantage of." He used_the word "profits," 

which is properly translated by "taken advantage of".. 

L OUIS DUSTO V", called asawitness on be-

half of the defense, being duly sworn, testifies as follows. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. HOCHFELDER: 



tttkow' 

Where de yOu live? A 138 'West 62nd Street, 

Q And whereare you enployed? A By the Panhar 

bile Tomb ta.nr. 

Q In what capacity? A What sir? 

Q, what do you do? A I keep the books in the repa 

shop. 

Q Do you know Edward Monbrum, the defendant 

ceeding? A Yes, sir. 

Q, How long have you kmown hith?. 

months. 

Q Do you recall February 8th, 1909 

Yes, sir. 

Q Do you know .whether you saw Edward Wnbrum 

of one 117 West 28th Street? A Yes, sir. 

Q And doyou frequent that place? Did you go to that 

place? A Yes sir; I went to that place that day. 

A About six or seven 

f this year? 

MR. WPLETON: No, the point is, (lb'', yoU go  there 

often? 

THE WITNESS: Well, &Out once a week, for my meals, 

that is , once or twice a week. 

BY MR. HOOEFELDER: 

Q And do you remember having met Edward Wombrum there 

on February 8th, 1909? A Yes, sir. 

q At about what time? A At about twenty minutes or 4 

quarter to seven. 
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you dine there? A Yes,  

Q About seven o'clock, or a little after seve 

Q Did you see Edward Monbrum dining there? A 

he dined with me. 

Q He d ined wi th you? A Yes sir; with me end two -0 

three more people. 

Q And between twenty minutes to seven arid seven OldO 

did you $ ee him, Edward Monbrum? A Yes, sir. . 

Was he in your company? A Yes sir. 

And in the company of your friends? A No, he was 

%with me playing billiards. 

Q He was playing billiards with 9 A Yes, 'sir 

Q Did :crou play one game or two games? A *played One 

game before dinner. 

Before dinner? A And we played another game a ter 

dinner. 

You played another game of .billd.ard'w afteir-dinnee 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And how long were you in his company,. or he in your 

cOmpany that night after dinner? A He left *at about nine 

o ^clock . 

Q And did you see him there all the • time? A Oh., yes, 

he was with me all the time. 'II left him there at stifle 

orclock. I went away with my boy. 

Q What time did you leave your place of business on that 



day, afternoon, night? A At five o'clock 

Q And you are sure that you met him there a 

minutes to seven? 

MR: APPLETON: No, I object to 

that he did. 

MR. HOCTIFELDER: That is al 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q Now, you keep pretty good time of what you d 

sir; that is very easy, and I will tell you whyt becalt 

Q, I did not ask you that. IL see you have a reas04 

A Yes, sir. 

Q We will give you a chance probably to d:b 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Did anybody tell you you ,had 

telaingo so? A Yes sir; r have one reason --

1111„ HOCHFEDI1ER: Vow' I think, your Honor. 

is unfair on the part of the District Attorney, 

RE=DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. HOMPELDER: 

Q Now, Mr. Dus ton, the District Attorney has asks 

question about a reason? A About what? 

Q About a reason, about the time and so on? .A Oh, 

yes. 

Q, Now, did anyone speak to 3ou about this Osseo 



MR. APPIRTOIT: Dort, t answer that no 

Will pur Honor diredt the witness that when 

out I am polite enough to interrupt the counsel 

THE COURT: Yes, don't answer until the pr 

BY MR. HOCHFELDER: 

Q Will you give- us the reason why you 

twenty minutes to seven? 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that as iMprope 

examination:. 

THE COURT: Yes. 

BY 1111. HOCHFELDBR: 

Q, Do you know other people that know yr . Mun 

sir; I know them. 

Q About how many do you know? 

MR: APPLETON: I object to the t a 

examina tion. 

MR. HOCIEFFZDER: I might say that I Eat trying 

THE COURT: You may continue, but the par tioultii• 

question is immaterial. 

BY MR. HOCHFELDER: 

Q, And do you know the reputation of Mr. Monbrum? 

MR. APPLETON: For what? 

MR. HOMPELDER: We will say that -- his general re, 

putation. 

MR. APPLETON: For peace and quietness, trUthfUftfle.B8., 
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veracity or what? 

MR. HOCHFELDER: Fie general reputation* 

say his reputation for morality, purity of  soul,. deOtne 

THY WITNESS: Well for the time I know him, I nelt 

noticed anything wrong with him. That is all I can sa 

about it. 

MR. HOCHFELDER: That is all. 

MR. VPLETON: That is all. 

• JE AN MAZINAB I, called as a witness in 

behalf of the defense, being duly sworn/ testified as fol.. 

lows: 

DIRECT RAMINATION BY MR. HOCITYELDER: 

Q Now, you speak a little English, but you prefer to 

have the assistance of an imkerpreter, that right? A Yet 

sir. 

Q How long have you been in this country? A TWO years* 

Are you the proprietor of the cafe and billiard parlor 

at 117 West 28th Street? A .Yes, sir. 

Q Do you know this MOmbrumt this defendant in thiS case? 

A I know Mr. Monbrum for the last six or seven years. 

Q Does he fsquent, does he visit your place of business? 

A He was usually calling there. He used to call there and 

he is freque ntly in my house. 

Q What time? A The dinner hour is at seven o'clock, 

but some times he would get there earlier. 



Q And do you recollect February 8, 190% and . 

what time he got to your place? A He came in a 

utes before seven. 

Q Did you sea him there from did he have dinner 

you at seven o'clock? 

BR. APPLETON: I object. - Ihe question 

place . 

THE COURT: Objection sustained% 

Q Did you have dinner with him on February 8th, 1909? 

Yes, sir. 

Q At what time, please? A We were eight at the to., 

It was seven or five minutes past seven in the evenin 

4, Was he one of the party at the table? 

MR. APPLETON,: "He I suppose refers to defender  

MR. EOCHFELDER: Yes, sir,. 

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. 

ct Did you see him after dinner? A Yes sir; be 

a game of billiards with Mr. Duston. 

Q Did he play any game of billiards before dinner? 

Yes sir, one games  

Q And did you get any money for the use of this baliariC 

table? 

ia 1. 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that, sir, it ie iMma 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. 



BY MR . HOCHPELDER: 

it Do you know hOw long he was 

• 

n your place that 

after dinner? A It was about nine, or a quarter 41ter n 

when he left my place. I do not know, the exact hour 

Q Do you know other people that know Mr. Monbrum A T 

sir. 

Q"' Do you know what his reputation is f mOra3.ity,. Uri 

of mind and heart? 

MR. APPLETON: Oh, I obj 

your Honor,, absolutely As 

ect td that. That is ne 
t 

to whatis for morality and 
itA 

reputable citizenship, but as for parity of mind and 'hear 

I do not know. 

TETE COURT: Let us have the question ate the ntleMan 

wishes to have it. How do you wish to have it? 

R. HOCHFELDER: I think we would like to have the 

word i 1,13u:city', in. 

THE COURT: /11 right, if the gentleman has a repittal. 

tion for purity, let it in; 

THE V/ITNESS: For all the long time I have been ac.N. 

quairtted with him I have always known him to be a good 

man, of good conduct, of very good conduct. 

Q Well, do you know anything about his morality? 

APPT:ETON: No, I object to the queetion as 

already answered. 

THE COURT: Yes. 



Caw' 

KR. jtOcIEFELDER: Well, I think that will 

On. that.point. 

MR. APPLETON: Have you finished? 

MR. HOCIELPELDER: The t is all. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. APPLETON: 

ci; you have so little business- you dO not have many' '.ef,9 

come to your place, do you? A At times I have more. 

have families come in there, and at times there are a grea 

many more than that. 

Q, And the defendant roomed at your 'house at 132 Weld 

28th Street on the 8th day of February, 1909.' 

A Yes sir; we had an a.piortment 

Q sow, I did not ask that. Did he 

TIM COURT: Did he live there or did he Sot? 

TIT WITNESS: Yes sire 

Q And you do not know what time he left your revs 

that night? 

MR. HOCHFELDER: May it please the Pourto, 

your Honor, he said that he did know. 

MR. APPLETON: Oh, it is all right then. 

afraid to have him answer the question? 

MR. HOCKFELDER: Why, he has said that he let 

quarter after nine. 

MB. APPLETON.: Go ahead. I don't 'want to 1412*, 



after you have told hi 

HENRY ISAAC"., called asawitne: 

half of the defense, and being duly swornytestified 

lows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. HOCHFYILDM: 

Q, What is your business? A Salesman. 

Q Employed where? A Mirabel. Wine Comp 

14th Stree t.. 

Q, Is that firm of yours emporters or 

porters; yes sir. 

ct Nowt do you know Edward Monbrum 

A Yes, sir, 

Q How long have you known him? A Abut four Or• 'fill' 

years, 

Q Do • you know the cafe at 117 West 28th Street? 

sir. 

Q And what is the name of the proprietor? 'A Zahn 

Metz inabi. 

Q And are you a married man? A Well, my wife is delid 

Q, You are a widower? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Have- you any children? A No, sir, 

N w, do you remember the night of February 8th: Mg? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q' Do you remember having seen Mr. Monbrum anywhere tha 



night? A Yes, sir. 

ra Where? A 117 West 28th Street. 

Q And what time did you go to that place?' 

the place about half past six. 

Q How long had you been in there when Mr. if 

in? 

MR. APPT.RTON: If he knows. 

Q If you know? A Well I was there about ;Amp Or 

or seven minutes, and then I noticed lir. Monbrum 00MA 

Q And did you see him for any period of time after_ 

A After. that; yes sir. 

Q Any place? A Yes, sir. 

Q Were you in his company? A I was in his oompa 

What were you doing? A. We toOk_supPer tegeth 

sat down at the table at seven o'clock  Or five lAnntsti, 

seven.. 

Q And before supper time were yO4 engaged in any 

THE COURT: Ask him that happened, if he knOW14,11 

supper. What he saw there and what took plate, it afiytU, 

before supper. 

THE WITNESS': Mr. Monbrum was playing- a game Of 14,-X 

liards with a gentleman by the name of Duston. I ;OA 

the gentleman but i am not sure that that is Us naftei:. 

And were you playing a game too? AI No, sir. 

Q, Did you see him after supper? A Yee sir 



• And for how long atime did you see hitt 
mihutes 

left the place about nine or fire/after, and be 

He remained there. 

Q Did you leave with Mr. MOflbrUm or did you leave' 

I left alone. 

Q DO you know other 'people that know Mr. MonbroM 

What is that? 

Q Do you know other men, woman, that know Mr. Monbrum? 

A Yes, sir. 

cbr Well, do you know what his reputation is as 

ity? A Well, I know nothing bad about him. 

Q Nothing bad about him? Well, can you tell 

more than that? 

MR. APPLETON: I object to that, sir. It its 

proper question. Does he know his .reputation yea or 

. 

THE WITNESS: I know his reputation. 

Q Is it good or bad? 

•THE' COURT: A reputation for what?? 

HOCIIFELDER: For morality? 

THE WITNESS: It is good. 

MR. HOCIEMDER: That is all, if your Honor. pleas.. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. APPLETON: 

Q How often do you dine there at that cafe? A 

happens that I go in there ,on nday nightlife 
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It just happens that you dine there On 

A Yes, sir, 

Q, 

A Vol 

Did you, dine there last MOnday night? 

Did you !line there the Monday might, before 

sir. 

Q Did you dine there Monday night two weeks ago' 

cannot just recollect. I know r was there the two Mond  

nights. I generally dine there on -a Monday night. 

Q just listen to the question if you can? Do you 

when you dined there last on a Monday utight? A Aftut 

weeks ago. 

Q That is the best answer you can givet, about there 

ago? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Do you know what time you got there at that time/ 

A I got there about six or a quarter past six that at 

Q, You got there about Silk or a quarter past øi*, but 

supper is not ready until seven? 

the supper. I go there and maybe play a game of billOrdt 

or. pool myself. 

Q And do you know who dined with you the last time? 

A There was very few of it. 

IQ, you don't know who they were? . A Yes sir; Cluvr 

was Monsieur- and Madame Mazihabi and Mi. Dustoni I thinks 

but I am not sure. 

Q

 

You think Monsetur Due tom, but you do not ksow? 



nOt know.. 

MR: APPLETON: That is all. 

MR. HOGRYELDER:" That is the 

THE DEFENSE RESTS 

MR. HOCHFELDM Is the District Attorney going 

recall any witnesses, or any new matter, 

THE COURT: The District Attorney has not indicated 

to me his desires. The defense has the right to a rebut 

THE PEOPLES"' REBUTTAL 

MR. KPPLETON: Ida Giordana. 

Now, if your Honor please, this 

child as you see. I do not insist upon having this child 

testify. I brought out on cross examination certain 

facts. IL merely make the offer to.have this child testify 

if the Court thinks proper or the jury would like to have 

the child do so. 

IDA GIORDANO, called asawitness in 

behalf of the People in Rebuttal, testified as follows:. 

BY THE COURT: 

C4, What do you speak? A French and Englteh and Italian. 
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q you spook French, Englieb. end Italian? A Yea*, •11 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. APPLE TOW: 

Q Now, how old are you, Ida? A What? 

Q How -old are you? A Five years old. 

Q Do you know monsieur •Monbru40 

MR. HOCRPELDER: May it please your. onor• at thio, 

juncture, I do not think the testimony of this child 

should be received. The child is of such tender age. 

THE COURT: I will allow the questions to be put. 

BY NM,. ATPLNTOH: 

Q Do you know monsieur INnbrum? A !Vs 

Q Nbw, were you 'ever in Mr. Monbrum s room? A les. 

sir. 

Q Did you ever -- or do you know Louise Willem? 

sir, 

Q Did you ever see Louise Willem irr Mr. 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, did anything happen at any time --well, I won't 

put it that way. Do you know Louise Willem's mother? A, Yes* 

sir. 

Q, Did you ever hear Loulses mother call Louise while 

Louise was in Mx. Monbrum's roam? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Now, What happened when Louise  mother called her, did 

Mr. Monbrum,say anything to you? A Yes, sir, he said 

"Louise is coming right away." 
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Br THE COURT: 

Qt, Who said that? A Mr: Monbrum said 

Louise is coming right away. 
JO I 

Q To whom did he say that? A He said 

THE COURT: Go ahead. 

BY MR. APPLETON: 

What did you do when mr. Monbrum said that to you? 

A Well, my mother called me and then I went upstairs, sO XT 

put my coat --

Q Never mind that  but when Mr. Monbrturt told you to tell 

Louise 's mother that she would be up right away, did you tell 

Louise mother? A Yes, sir. 

Q What did you say to Louiseds mother? A I said, "All 

right, Mrs. Willem, she is coming right away upstairs.* 

MR. APPLETON: Now, you can cross examine her. 

MR. TIOCHYMDER: und e r- our rules:of evidenee it is 

most improper for the defendant to .cross examine and I 

shall not cross examine her, and I will further ask tliat 

this testimony be entirely disregarded as it. is entirely- , 

tnadmissible under our laws, the child being of such a 

tender age, only five years. 

1M. A JJi)'TO1:I did not press it, your Ronor. 

THE COURT: just one moment. I call your attentionl„ 

to Rule 392 of the Code of Criminal Pr000durerTne rule* 
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Of evidence tase$ are applitable attO 

eases, except as otherwise provided in this 004 

ever in any criminal procedure a child actually: 

ently under the age- of twelve years' Offered as a'*, 

does not in the opinion of the: court or magistra 

stand the nature of an oath, the evidence of 61161t. 

may be received, though not given "der oath, if UT the 

opinion of the court or magistrate such chi/4 is liosseallW 

sot' Sufficient iinteIrigence to justify the rete$ti00 Of 

the evidence." NOVVI my OPIniOn is pre t ty well 'iihareci.. 

Both these children are intelligent enough to :give 

were to questions here by way of evidence, but the rU 

in  one sentence: "But avO verStil Shall be bS/d. 

or convicted of an offense Upon such testimony upoup$40# 

ed by other evidence." 

Vow then, if you are reasoning that her answers to, 

questions given ih this proceeding are not a character 

of evidence, then you are mistaken according to the rule., 

The child ha,.in the j ud gin en t of this Cour t„ a sUf-

fitient amount of intelligence to answer the questions 

which have been put to her, and it is„- therefore, your 

privilege to cross examine if you care to. 

MR. HOCHFELDER: Now, if it please your Honor,. r 

ask for an exception in this case. 

THE COURT: You may have it. 
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1114 HOCHPELDNR: Wire than that if 

the laws of this great State have gone further 

I think, and .say that the evidence of a child Utid-trs-:seven 

years of age is entirely incompetent and may not 0 

broughtbefore the jury for the purposes 1.33.at yOur Rai 

allowed it. 

THE COURT: Tes, 

MR. HOCHFELDER: And that is more than --

THE COURT: And I shall so hold, notwithstanding t 

unusual intelligence manifested by these' children) that 

their evidence is insufficient to convict unsuppOrte 

other evidence. I- will hold that. 

MR. HOCH:FELDER: May it please.. your HOnors, your ITO*O 

has had great experience before this bar and I have the 

highest respect for our Honore% opinions 

side. 

THE COURT: Yes but we can afford to leave theist, .0 

HOCHFELDER: Now, I want to say this, your Ronor 

is unfortunately in error in the matter of discretion, 

and the law specific'ally lays d own that your Honor cannot 

exercise discretion OM 'OM, 

THE COURT: Will you please point out where that is? 

MI. HOCH:FELDER.: I will. 

THE COURT: In the rule of 392? 

MR. HOCHFELDER: There is another provision of the 



Code, 

TnE COURT: Then it you cannot pain 

we do not care for that. 

HOCKFELbERI: The common law and the 

are that the evidence may not be atnitted". 

THE COURT: We are willihg to take the statg 

for our gmide in this proceeding. 

MR. HOCHFELDER: Will your Honor than give 

exception, 

THE COURT: Certainly. 

MR. HOCHFELDER: Would Your Honor -- I meta 

it ask this child a few questions to see whet 

knows the nature of an oath, and some such questions 

your Honor has put to the little girl, Louise? 

MR. WELETON: She has not taken an oath, 

THE COURT: She has not taken an oath, I will s 

examine her to see if she is intelliOmttenough to testit., 

I did not, under the circumstances, .think that was Moe* 

sexy. 

MR. HOCHEELDER: tut i asli your HOnor elk OS 

MR. APPLETON: The point of that is, that she has 

not been sworn, and it is in the discretion of the 00Urt 

to permit a witnessunder 12 years of age to testif,',.,'.$4a; 

if the witness is not sworn, it is not necessary for th. 

COurt to e xamine the Witness. 
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Tit COURT: Tro 1 because not going 

under oath. 

• BY TM COURT: 

Q, But I will ask you this little girl. DO you know w 

is the father of the world, who made the world? Do MI, kite 

anything about God? A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you pray to him? A What? 

Q, Do you say prayers to him sometimes? A

Q, You say prayers, do you? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Now, what do you call this sort of a thing, a pert:tett 

tells anything that is mot true. What is that, if you should 

tell a thing that is not true, what' would you call that?  

Do you know the difference between a true story and one which 

is a lie? When does a person tell a lie, do you know that? 

A You go in  "f ire, 

Ct You go in fire if he tells a lie? A Yes, sir. 

cl Well, what doyou, mean by telling .a lie? To tell s 

thing which is wha t? A ( NP answer) 

NOw, suppose you said thatyou saw T,ouise yesterday, 

and you did not see her. What would that he, a lie or would 

it be the truth, if you, did r3ot see?.Lourise and you said you 

did see her? Would that be tellitig a lie? A Yes. 

Q Is it wrong to tell a lie? A Yes, sir, 

Q' Why do you think it is wrong to tell a tie? What 

would har,pen if you told a lie? A We will go in fire. 



Q You Will go in fire? Well  Who w 

The devil, 

Q The devil?? Well now, there is this idea of thi* 

girl is a prettyrprevalent idea as to what follows ma•tb* 

result of falsebOod. And you think it is wrong to tell te 

lie, do you? A Yes, sir. 

Q And it is right to tell what? A TO tell 

Is that what you mean? A To tell the truth. 

Q To tell the truth, and that is What you Will d0 

that is what You have done here When they asked you questions* 

you told the truth, you gave a true answer? A 

Q And that is the kind of an ansWeryou are gob* to give 
all the time? A Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: Now, you may proceed to cross examine. 

MR. HOCRYELDER: Well, your Honor, I Cannot avail my-

self of a right which I do not possess, It is incompet*nt 

and inadmissible. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Let me see, you said that you told -- What is the little 

girl's name? 

MR: APPLETON: Louise. 

Q Louise, that you told her Mama that she was going to 

go right wl right away? A. Yes, sir. 

Q Who said that? A 10% 



You said it to whom? A TO:(Mrso Wi3.1era• 

Q  Well, who told you to say that  A Monsieur &On1 

Q Monsieur yonbrum told you to say that? Now* where was 

Louise when Monsieur yonbrum told you to say that? A She 

was in the room. 

Whose- room? •A M±. Monbrum s room. 

Q, Who else was in there? A My sister. 

Oh, and was there anybody there bedides your sister? 

A No, and Louise. 

THE COURT: That is all. 

MR. /IPPLETON: The people rest. 

HOCJIFELDER: The defense rests. 

BOTH SIDES REST 

1111. HOCHFELDER: If your Horror please I ask for thu 

permission, to reserve the right after recess, to make 

motions and also to bring to your Honor's attention the 

authorities i have in mind. 

( The Court then dm orri shed the yury in accordance vit th 

Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure and took a 

recess until 2:15 1)1 

RE C E S 



Ea.. HOCH:FELDER: May: it • please your TfOrror 

my motion to dismiss the indicia.ient on the groOn 

cevidence adduced in behalf Of the people of the 'S 

fails in every way to corrolloOreite the evidence .Of 

complaining witness-4 That is Hnv Only: InOtion lust 

THE COURT; Motion denied:: 

HOCHVELDER; I take an exeep tion* 

M. ITO•itifelder• sums up to thejury in beh4f Of t43, 

defense. 

Mr. Appleton Bums up to the jury in 

people 

THE COURT: Gentlemen, at this' hour, act near to ,thO'f 

hour Of adjournment it is not thein ten ti on of the 'Cour 

to submit the case to you this ,evening. I shal. 44Er 

you in the morning at half past tem. - 

The court thenadmoniahed the jury in accordance 

Section 415 of the code Of Criminal Procedure and W4 

ed the trial of this case until tmorrow, Thursday* 10'.. 

8th,, 1909 at 10:3'.0 A. It. 

_ 
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TIM PEOPLE AGAINST EDWARD MONBRUM. 

'few York, April 8 1909. 

TR 1ALIR SUMED 

CHARG 

• 0 'SUM/VAN p T. -

Gentlemen, the defendant at the bar, Edward 'MOn 

is charged with rape in the first and secdnd degree. 

Rape in the first degree has been Charged againS 

the defendant in the first count which is sUbmiit 

for the reason, as alleged in the indictment, tika, 

8th day of February, in the year 1909, in the C 

New York, that he with force perpetrated upon 4 der 

female, not his wife, to-wit; Louise Willem, ad aOsaa 

and act of sexual intercourse with her, without the. 00 

sent and against the will of the said Louise Wili 

It is further charged that the defendant ,cemMitted', egein 

the said Louise Willem, an act of sexual intercourse at .a 

time when the said Louise Willem, by -reason of her inf4no 

her immaturity rather, She did not then and there Wfer: 

resistance to the criminal aot charged againet the 

defendant. 



If you should find to. your satisfadt104 

reasonable doubt, that the defendant was gut 

one of these charges, it would be your dut 

him of rape in the first degree. 

The defendant is further charged with ra 

second degree in that on the day heretofore ment 

in the County of New 'fork, he did feloniously asilat 

the said Leuise Willem and that he feloniously per 

an act of sexual intercourse with her, dhe being 4liet4on 

under the age of seventeen years to-wit, of the 

selen years. 

As you will notice in that charge which all 

in the second degree against the defendant, there 

question of consent or resistance. In fact, Un 

count, and under our statute, there can be no qUeltiO 

consent according to the terms of the statute und 

he is charged and with the violation of which he .4 

in the indictment. All it will be necessary to 

you find guilt at all undet this section, 10, waa the 

sexual intercourse by and between the defendant anaUni: 

Willem? Was she under the age of eighteen at the time an 

was the act of sexual intercourse perpetrated? 

If you find that he is guilty of any or either ef 

these charges, it would be your duty to convict him, in 

your verdict of that charge in the indictment *hien•;yOn 



find sustained by the testimony. That is to 

find him guilty at all, you would return a verdio 

ing to your finding of rape in the first degree 

in the second degree. 

Before you proceed to an examination of the 

mony, you must be instructed that a defendant in a or 

inal action is presumed to be innocent until the -contrar 

is proven, and in case of a reasonable doubt 'whether his 

guilt is satisfactorily shown, he is entitled to in acquit-

tal; but should the evidence in the case satisfy you  

beyond a reasonable doubt that the defenda# 

will be your solemn duty to find him so, and in your' *et-, 

diet declare him solof any one of the charges againathft. 

In considering the evidence you are to have•in mind 

certain rules, and in this case exceptional rules; that 

rules, Which are peculiar to cases of rape and again** 

rule with regard to the evidence of children, Who, lath 

judgement of the Court, are incapable of understanding th 

nature of an oath but who are permitted to testify WitheUt. 

taking oath. 

The rule to Which I refer is this; that no oonvio. 

tion can be had for rape or defilement upon the testimaq 

of the female defiled unsupported by other evidence. Th4 

is to say, if in a case of this character tiere mae al 
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other evidence of the defendant's guilt than the evidence 

derived from the testimony of the girl Who domPlaPle 

the case would not be given to you. You cotaitnrCa nvict 

upon it and the defendant would- have to be acquitted 

That is one rule. 

Now, there is another, as stated to you, that-Mbe 

ever in any criminal proceeding, a ohild actuallY erñ 

parently under the age of twelve years, is offered 

Witness, does not, in the opinion of the Court, undei,a 

the nature of an oath, the evidence of that child 010 1) 

received though not given under- oath ,if, in the 00 

the Court or Magistrafte, such child is posseSeed off 

ficient intelligence to justify the reception afi*r 

evidence. That is to say, while it may  thatt &n the 

opinion of the Court, this child under the age of tWelle, 

did not understand thoroughly the nature of the oath, if. 

the Court believed her to be of sufficient intelligence 

to tell her 'story and give her testimony without tak' 

the oath, we would be justified in receiving her evictenoei 

but if there was no other evidence to support her, Mk 

conviction could be had because the rule is that in 1300 

a case as I have stated to you of a child ef " tura 

0 

„. 
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years testifying, and not under oath, no person , shall 

held or convicted of an offense upon such testimony 

supported by other evidence. 

Now, that will apply to both of these dhildreu New 

testified, to Louise Willem, the complaining witne 

and the Giordano girl.- That rule applies to both, 

that their testimony is not sufficient to convict Uhle00 

it is supported by other evidence. 

As I have stated to you, unless there was othev: 

evidence in the case than the 'evidence of this child 

less there was evidence in the case other than 'the 

of this girl who complains of having been raVidhe 

this man, the case would not be submitted to-you, but it 

is for you to say, and not for no, Whether the other evidq-

ence in the case, if there be mnY, supports the testi-

mony of these girls, supports the testimony of Louise Wil-

lem to an extent sufficient to convicts 

What is the rule with regard to that? What 

evidence, other evidence, is of a Character Which will 

support the testimony of the child, the testimony 

of Louise Willem? The rule as stated by our courts of last 

resort is that the supporting evidence, sometimes called 

the corroborative evidence, must at least be of a Character 

and quality tending to prove the guilt of the accused 

by connecting him with the °rim:0, but the rule goes further 



than that. The •surporting or corroborative evidence 

extend to. every material fact essential •constitlAt 

the crime. That is to say, it would not be veil 

if there were supporting evidence and it only went, 

the direction of supporting one element or one facto 

necessary to constitute the criMe. It 

though, that the supporting evidence be 

not neoese 

such a 

as by itself, standing alone would convict the defend 

It is enough if it supperts the material elements of 

charge against this an • It is no, ,necessary in agi. 

case 

that 

that 

that the evidence .should be direct. That i 

a person should have 'seen.the thing done 

you miglt determine whether or not it. wae 4:14 

would be enough if it were circumstantial evidence 

fying you, together with the evidence of the 'Child,-

the defendant is guilty. You are not directed 4 cast 

away the evidence of tie Child. You are direete4 t 

take that and consider it in connection with whatever 

other evidence there may be to 

the defendants 

support the ()barge againts 

As the Court of Appeals has said, it. 

need not be, in itself,.convincing or conclusive. Thait 

is, the supporting testimony need not be convincing cr 

conclusive, but it must corroborate and support the eVt, 

enceof the female. 



In this case there is a double reason -1 

trig evidence. That is to say, that the teSti 

female complaining that :she has been ravish° Aflust 

supported by other evidence. in order to find apOnvi,ction4 

Further than that, the testimony f childre 

such an tmmature age that they are permitted 

without oath, must be supported by other 6. 44 

charge you that that other evidence need notlef 

be of such a character as to convince you that its 

ing alone, is enough for a conviction. YOU are :t 

all of the testimony in the case and you are,to-

_it all whether, beyond a reasonable doubt4 the deten 

has been proven guilty. 

Now, you are to take his denial. YOU are to *onider 

his testimony. You are to consider the.other teSttaq AU#k 

balancing the one against the otherland investigating $0,1 

ly and impartially,you are to say whether or not tø 

defendant is proven guilty. If there be an element'et 

reasonable doubt arising from all of the case, from Ida 

part of it and from the other, there is not evidence 

enough to convict him. In that case he is entitled to an 

acquittal. 

It was so recently that this case was laid before 

that there hardly appears to be any necessity for a reel= 

-43 



the testimony, but in order that we may be 

• draw the proper conclusions and judgments with 're' 

the testimony of the girls, with regard to the t:S.at, 

of other witnesses, it may be well refer brief:LY 

the substance of the testiMony which we are distki,0111 

You remember the child's testimony that in Ite.14t 

Street, she lived in an apartment, on the fourth flOor 

a building there, with her father and mother; the 
defendant

 occupying rooms on the floor below; that on the day'. 

alleged, the girl and her Mother returned about half past 

six from the market. The girl testifies, and, you. uia 

member the testimony of the mother with regard to t 

that she went into the room occupied by this  defendant • 

You will remember the mother's teStimony Witi regard to 

that and say whether or not the going in of this child 

into that room is supported by any credible evidence. 

You will also remember, the defenclo.nt ts own story, 

that he occupied these rooms alone; that there was no in-

tercourse between 'the adjacent apartments and his; that 

this girl did not come into his room but that on that 

evening he was alone in the room. There is also some 

testimony from witnesses for the defendai t. about his play- ' 

ing billiards at a cert. n hour, about half past six 0014:wit3 

and having taken super at another place nearby at about 
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six or seven or half past six o'clock that evenings 

raw, you remember the story told by the dhild an 

referring to the count against the defendant Charging 

him with rape in the first degree in that he did felonious. 

ly have an act of sexual intercourse with her, the Said. 

Louise Willem, against her will and against h r consent; 

the law generally requires before a conviction can be 

had on the charge of rape in the first degree, that the 

complaining witness or female defiled, did resist .09c 

act of the defendant; that the act of intercourse was 

ainst her will and without her consent is usually 

quired. That is to say, in order to prove a conviction 

in order to prove guilt, it must have beenshown•the* her : 

resistance is forcibly overcome. Trowl., the ordinary re.. 

quirement is that the female must have resisted to the e,x-,1*. 

tent of her ability. In order to Show that it Imo agaip4 

her will, it is required that she Make, such rosititailce, 

as she is capable of making. That is, She should resist 

to the extent of her ability, to the Utmost extent of her. 

ability, and if it was with her consent, there is no 

crime committed in the first degree. 

But submission, gentlemen, may not always b ..144044.4 

and you are to say *hat resistance, if any, tlais. 0414 

the complaining witness, could make in the hands of sudh 
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a man as the defendant. The charge - that it 

against her will and consent,You may determine  froM 

circumstances surrounding the case whether that i 

fact, and while the deelaration or the complaint which 

the little girl of seven says .hat she made to her,fathe 

and Mother immediately after the alleged attack upon 114r* 

does not corroborate her story, you are permitted, from 

the evidence in the case, to investigate whether or not 

her resistance was overcome, or whether it was with her 

consent the wt was performed by any testimony which' 

shows what her mental and physical condition was immediateXY' 

after it, I say that you may consider that. :Whether. 

she was in a state of aatation, whether She was pale . 

and trenbling and weeping immediately after the alleged 

encounter, is proper evidence for you to consider. It 

is also proper in this case for you to consider the rel-

ative=strength of this man and that child; whether in 

such a place, according to her strength, such as she 

could exert, any opposition was made against him and 

whether or not she was seized and subjected to the used 

of this man in a criminal way against her will and with-

out her consent. 

But there is another count in the first degree, 

gentlemen, which alleges that cn account of the immaturitY 

of Louise Willem, being of the immature age of seven, she 



t then and there  offer resistance 

sexual interaou 

with her. You have seen the infant and you haYe 

her testify and from her testimcny and all of the 6t, 

testimony in the case concerning this act, you are to 

"c 
say whether or not this defendant did covorit an ac 

sexual intercourse against Louise lalteto ) whP 

the time and place and during the said act of sexual ttter-, 

course, on account of her inmaturity, did not then and. 

there offer resistance, and if You find that that chSrge 

is supported to your satisfaction beyond a reasonab 

doubt, it would be your duty to convict the defenda 

therefore, of rape in the first degree. 

The other charge against the defendant is of rape tO  

the second degree; namely, that on the day and at the tillile 

heretofore mentioned the defendant did perpetrate at aat 

of sexual intercourse with Louise Willem, she being An 

infant under ig1teen years of age arid not the wife of 

the defendant. 

If you find that to be true, it will be your duty, 

as heretofore instructed, to convict the defendant. 
..N, 

There is an expression used in that statute-- that is to 
, 

say, "Under circumstnces not mounting to rape in the 

first de7ree." T):1i1e the circumstances there referred 
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o are consent generally, it also refer to VP 

non resistance but under that charge there is 

tion and there can be none of consent or resiStan 

You are simply to find from the testimony whether 

there was an Act of sexual intercourse between thib de 

fendant and Louise Willem at that time and that plac 

he not being her husband, She being an infant xndbr 

een years of age. 

Now, as to the act of sexual intercourse itself; 

it is enough if there was the slightest Penetration by 

the defendant's male organ into the pudendum or XaM4 

gan of the complainant. That is to sg3r,was it at 

inserted? You are to determine that from the evidence, 

and if you find that there was such a penetration int* 

the organ of the female complainant here, no matter how 

slight or what depth, you would find that the cot 'of ce-Ziov 

ual intercourse had been perpetrated. 

Bow then, taking the testimony, you are first pro-

perly to consider the testimony of the children. Then) 

having considered that testimony, it would be your duty 

to find if it were supported by other evidence in the 

case. First, was there an act of sexual intercourse? 

Consult the testimony of the Physicians concerning the 

condition of the girl within twenty-four hours, or there 
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abouts of the alleged act. Were there sign* of Vitt 

signs of rupture, signs that the female orga 

penetrated by a blunt instrument within a 1,:erY-TOen 

time? And you will declare whether or not thg 

from the evidence was the result -of eexual'intetO. 

and if you find that there was sexual intercOut 

next question will be by whom? 

If the evidence of the girl Were left alone'witbt 

gard to that you could never find by whom but ia be 

testimony alone? Is there other testimony w4d4 

You in determining by whom sexual intercourse wa 

trated, if it was perpetrated? Was the girl seen ,a 

about the time in the quarters occupied by the •defe440? 

Was the defendant the only person in the room, at t 

If not, who was the other person? Was there anothee 

able of committing such an act on the defendant? 

have to look for testimony to find that the girl Is Odd..• 

ence with regard to that is supported. You may lod, 

into whatever testimony there is with regard to her haV14g. 

been seen, 

ant, at or 

if she was seen, in the quarters of the defend -

about the time of the alleged perpetration.of 

the outre. 

We are now following the testimony to determine whet 

er or if there had been an act of sexual intercourse per-

petrated. You may follow from the room. The girl a'. 
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alleged complaint of what occurred there 10 not 'COtr* 

ative evidence but there may be other circumstance 

ing to show :that she was there. You maY 1061 

other testimony. 

Now then, what was her.condition .if the tetitito 

shows it, before she went into that room, her physic., 

condition? what was her physical condition, if the-t*.t 

many Snows it, Shortly after, almost immediately. after 

she left the room, if the testimony shows W? 

little girl went into that room unimpaired in her physic-

al virginity and came shortly after from that room with 

her physical virginity impaired and signs of viblen 

her private parts and pudendum it is for you to dtte 

who did it and where it was done. 

Now then, were there any examinations made, 

who made them? Examine the.ncther 6 testimony 

nine the Doctor's testimony, But While you are 40140 

all that, you are not to neglect the defendant's.teSti,o-

mony. You will recall that when the father charged him 

with having taken advantage of the daughter, he declar044 

according to his own testimony, "I- am incapable of that." 

What, if anything, he declared, if.the child accused hi4 

in the father's presence, is for you to, find in the testi., 

many. These accusations are allowed in evidence to shows 



by the ansWers and the demeanor of the defendant 

is the likelihood What is the reasonableneep 

ing guilt to hie That is not enough ef it 

cause many men may act in different "Ws under eer 

accusation, but it is allowed to you for .the purpose he 

in. stated. 

There hae been evidence of good characters testimony 

from various witnesses. I tell, you with regard to that 

that evidence of good character may create a reasonable 

doubt, it may cause a reasonable doubt to arise 

I do not say that it must cause a re:ea-enable doubt 

that is with you gentlemen, to say Whether there is any 

evidence of such a character concerning the reputation 

of the defendant as to raise in your, minds a reasonable 

doubt that a man of such a character is guilty, or could 

be guilty of the charge made here against hint. 

It is fortunate for the prevalance of justice that we 

are not limited to direct evidence. Crime would go 

unwhipped of justice, if it could be detected and 

convicted only upon direct evidence. You are to use 

your judgement as reasonable men in determining Whether 

or not, acording to the first count against this 

man, the resistance, if &nil of this girl was over-

come by him, and if you find that there was no resistances 
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you are to determine whether it was beeanS0 

cumstanoes that resistance would have been 

resistance would have been worthless. Yon are 

the relative strength of the child and the man 

compare her age with his determining *bather et ne 

in such relations any resistance on her part conpd 

fected any good whatever Butt you are not liMited 

that. 

If, under the law, you' find that there was :not even 

that amount of resistance whioh perhaps a child of that 

age might have used, you are then to consider the :a 

charge; namely, that on account of her extreme infan 

her immaturity, seven years of age, an act of sexual uteri' 

course was perpetrated against her, dh having uade no 

resistance on account of her tmmaturity, immaturity in 

intellect, immaturity in years. 

That a child of her condition and :her age bad an 

act of sexual intercourse perpetrated against her and Made 

no resistance is submitted to you as a count, the second 

count of the charge of rape in the first degree; and if 

you find that by reason of her immaturity, she did not the 

and there offer resistance to the said act, and the.$014 

act was committed against her by this mansit would - be ,your. 
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duty to find him guilty, of rape in the first degree. 

If there is any reasonable doubt in your minds af 

guilt under either of these charges, you are to 06 to 

charge of rape in the second degree and find whether' 

not, on the date alleged, the defendant did commit an .a 

of sexual intercourse with the complainiing witness, 

Willem, a child under the age of eighteen and not the 

wife of the defendant. If you do so find, 
to 

duty/find the defendant guilty of that degree. 

--.vrou3A. be y0 

you 

are to find him guilty Of no degree, if you cannot' find 

that that crime has been established beyond a reaSan4 

doubt. The defendant would be entitled to the be 

of such a reasonable doubt and you would have .to 444, 

hims but if, from all the testimOny, the testimony df 

children and the testimony of other 'witnesses supliorting 

their testimony, you find, beyond a reasonable d0Obt't 

he is guilty of any one of these charges, either Ofioape, 

in the first or rape in the second degree it will Ut 

your solemn duty so to declare him guilty. 

Are there any requests to charge? 

MR. HOCHFELDER: I respectfully ask your 

Honor to Charge that the mere reception of the teat 

of the complainant does not of itself estoblinh the 

testimony is true in every respect, and furthe7 t44 

sog, 
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stated. 

TI E COURT: Now, one request at a t 

MR. HOCHFELIMR: Yes, sir; thank yOU. 

THE COURT: sow, your first request UV/ -

MR. HOC1t7ELDER: My first request is as 

TYR COURT: That has been already chargedt 

further it is for the jury to say mhether or not any-

timony in any case is believed by them. They are the Q 

plete judges of all the testimony submitted to they, 

refuse to charge in the language of the request. 

MR. HOCH7ELDER: Further, that if that tea 

mny be received, it must be examined by the jury a 

to all the rules of 'evidence of Our law. 

THE COURT: Yes, I so Charge. 

MR. HOCHFELDER: Thank, you. 

The third request ls that the resistank 

child, in order that the defendant might be guiltY Of 

rape in the first degree, need not be of physical resiot: 

ance or strength, and that if the .child was in clese pre 

tmity of its natural gaurdian, its father and mother 

one floor above, with the door open, that an oUtOry 

have to be construed as resistance; and that it is. 

he jury to determine whether such. opportunity -co 

been enjoyed or were present at the time oft 

act. 
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ception? 

THE COURT: I refuse to char 

MR. HOCHFETnER: M.11 your 

THE COURT:. Yea-, 

MR. HOCHFELDER Further,. that 

might have availed itself of a cry if any'o 

were present in the room, 'and that,,erk.. 

nature of resistance. 

THE COURT: Irefue so to charge4 

MR. HOCH4I,LDER: I respectfully excil 

Further, that the signs found upo 

the child do not of themselves raise a concl 

sexual relations only could have caused the 

there, and that they night have been caused b 

blunt instruments. 

THE COURT: I refuse so to charge., 

the jury to the testimony in the case concerning 

R. HOOH.e1JMER: I respectfully exCeldt to 

Further, that the defendant need not eStabliah i. 

his innocence beyond all reasonable doubt. 

THF COURT: I so charge. 

MR. HOCHFELDER: I thank you. 

Further, that the testimony received in evidenc 

corroborative of to complaint of the child is not oorrb.0 

boration o t1 crime alleged. 



THE COURT: I refuse to charge 

MR. HOCKPELDERt I respectfully exes 

Purther, that the evidence received: 

roborative that the complaint was made soon after 

leged act committed. 

THE COURT: I refuse so to charge. 

MR. HOCHYTLDER: I respectfully except 

Further, that in view of the extreme and tende 

ages of these little girls, the jury may with more *Lap. -

ordinary caution and deliberation examine the .teStit0 

the little girls for the purpose of establidhing the 

reliability of the same. 

THE COURT: I so charge. 

MR HOCHYTLDER: Thank you. 

Further, .that the testimony of the witne014._ 

Dr. Nagel, may be scrutinized with great care because 

he was the instigator of this charge and that ba was the 

private physician of the complainant's father. 

THE COURT: I refuse so to charge. 

MR. HOCHYELDER: I respectfully except. 

Furthermore, that the exercise of discretion 

by his Honor in allowing the reception of the testimony 0: 

the child under Section 392 of the Code does not of itself 

conclude that the testimony is true, but that the jury 

are the sole and exclusive judges of the truth of that 
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testimony. 

TH,F.COURT: Why,, surely; I so 0 

*MR. HOCHFELDER: I thank your 'Honor. 

Fui.thermoore, that the jury need not 4011 era 

or regard any testimony adduced Dy the compla nant s 

mother if such testimony had not been given urton the 

and that such testimony is deemed to be irrelevant. 

DiTit, COURT: Well, if the jury understand that, 

they can have it. I so charge. 

JUROR NO. 3: What do you mean by "Had 

given upon the stand?" 

MR. HOCHFELDER: I mearthis, Mr. .Turor--

THE COURT: No, address the Court. 

MR. HOCHFEIDER: I begyour Honor's pardon. 

I mean this, that if the complainant's motber 

spoke of any subsequent acts that she did with the Cbild, 

washing the child, found something on the child, which the, 

child in the beginning had not communicated to the mother 

or father, and such additional testimony, if given upon 

th- stand by the mother, is not deemed to be admissible, 

relevant or competent. 

THE COURT: I decline so to charge, and on 

the contrary say that it is absolutely competent. 

HOCHFELDER: May I say to your Honor that 
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I refer toe xtraneous matter. 

your 

THE COURT: I am inclined to as 

requests in  writing if you are going 

HOCHTLILDFR : I shall cease, 

I shall nct burden you with any. more 

TO.. APPLETON: No requests from. 

Attorney. 

THE : Gentlemen, the ease 

The jury retired. 

The jury returned and rendered a ver. 

guilty of rape in the first degree. 

MR. HOCHFET,DER: May it please Yo 

respectfully move fora new trial for the reasorc 

the evidence does not warrant. the bringing ±1:o: 

verdict in the first degree ; and secondly, that 

diet is against the evidence and aga.inst the law ;, 

also move for a new trial on all the grounds tentio 

in the Code of Criminal Procedure. 

THE COURT: Motion denied. ; 

Until what day do you. desire to have the ptifr 

saner remanded? 

HOCH.hiErDii,E.: About a we elc ' if it 18 a$ 

able? 

TIT COURT: About a week? 
MR. ILOCH.r.;13DFIZ: Well, at your Honor' s q0n1re 

ence then. 

3,1 
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